Antihypertensive drug use and the risk of sepsisassociated acute renal failure in the elderly.

Éric Deland

Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health.

McGill University, Montréal

December 2011

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master in science.

© Éric Deland, 2011

Abstract

Objective: To examine the association between exposure to antihypertensive drugs and the occurrence of acute renal failure during sepsis.

Study design: A cohort study of 25 830 Québec residents, aged over 65 years, discharged from an acute care hospital with a diagnosis of sepsis between 1997 2004.

Outcomes: Discharge diagnosis of acute renal failure and in-hospital renal replacement therapy.

Exposure: Outpatient exposure to antihypertensive drugs in the 60 days prior to hospital admission.

Statistical analysis: Crude and adjusted odds ratios for acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy associated with antihypertensive drug exposure were estimated using multivariate logistic regression models including baseline characteristics and comorbidities.

Results: Thiazide diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers were associated with an increased risk of both acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy, except in the subgroup with chronic renal failure, for which an increased risk could not be demonstrated. Exposure to loop diuretics was associated with an increased risk of renal replacement therapy, but did not modify the risk of acute renal failure. Simultaneous use of more than two antihypertensive drugs increased the risk of both acute renal failure and of renal replacement therapy.

Conclusion: During sepsis, prior exposure to thiazide diuretics, angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, and antihypertensive polytherapy (>2 drugs) increase the risk of sepsis-related acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy.

Résumé.

Objectif : cette étude examine le lien entre l'exposition à des médicaments antihypertenseurs et la survenue d'insuffisance rénale aiguë durant un épisode septique.

Devis de l'étude : une étude de cohorte de 25 830 résidents du Québec, âgés de 65 ans ou plus, hospitalisés entre 1997 et 2004 dans un centre hospitalier de soins aigus, ayant reçu un diagnostic de sepsis au congé de l'hôpital.

Issues : la survenue d'une insuffisance rénale aiguë et l'initiation d'un traitement de remplacement de la fonction rénale.

Exposition : la prise de médicaments antihypertenseurs à domicile dans les 60 jours précédant la date d'admission.

Analyse statistique : les rapports de cote (*odds ratios*) pour l'insuffisance rénale aiguë et pour les traitements de remplacement de fonction rénale, en relation avec l'exposition aux médicaments antihypertenseurs ont été estimés par des modèles de régression logistique multiple tenant compte des caractéristiques initiales et des comorbidités pertinentes.

Résultats : L'exposition aux diurétiques thiazidiques, aux inhibiteurs de l'enzyme de conversion de l'angiotensine et aux bloqueurs des récepteurs de l'angiotensine était associée à un risque accru d'insuffisance rénale aiguë et de traitements de remplacement de la fonction rénale, sauf dans le sous-groupe des insuffisants rénaux chroniques, pour lequel un risque accru n'a pu être démontré. Les diurétiques de l'anse de Henle étaient associés à un risque augmenté de traitement de remplacement de la fonction rénale, mais pas au risque d'insuffisance rénale aiguë. L'usage simultané de plus de deux médicaments antihypertenseurs augmentait les risques d'insuffisance rénale aiguë et de traitements de remplacement de la fonction rénale.

Conclusion : Lors d'un épisode de sepsis, l'exposition préalable aux diurétiques thiazidiques, aux inhibiteurs de l'enzyme de conversion de l'angiotensine, aux bloqueurs des récepteurs de l'angiotensine, ainsi que la polythérapie antihypertensive (> 2 agents antihypertenseurs) augmentent le risque d'insuffisance rénale aiguë et de traitement de remplacement de la fonction rénale.

Acknowledgments.

I would like to thank my two thesis supervisors, Dr. Samy Suissa and Dr. Sandra Dial for their guidance, technical advice, and constant support with this project, Dr. Abbas Kezouh, for his invaluable assistance with creation of the study database and counsel, Dr. Sophie Dell'Aniello for precious help in exploration of of the RAMQ drug database. Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the constant help and support of my wife and children during my M.Sc. studies and work on this thesis.

Dedication.

Cet ouvrage est dédié à mon épouse Ève-Reine, et à mes enfants, Alexandre, Laure-Hélène et Charles.

Table of contents

| Abstract. | I |
|---|--------|
| Résumé. | II |
| Acknowledgements. | III |
| Dedication. | IV |
| Table of contents. | V |
| List of tables, figures and appendices. | VIII |
| Abbreviations. | XI |
| Chapter 1 - Introduction. | 1 |
| 1.1 Epidemiology of sepsis. | 1 |
| 1.2 Organ dysfunction in sepsis. | 2 |
| 1.3 Acute renal failure in sepsis. | 2 |
| 1.4 Acute renal failure: clinical and epidemiologic diagnosis. | 4 |
| 1.5 Can antihypertensive drugs cause sepsis-associated acute renal failure? | 5 |
| Chapter 2 - Literature review. | 7 |
| 2.1 General risk factors for acute renal failure. | 7 |
| 2.1.1 Demographic characteristics. 2.1.2 Chronic comorbidities. | 7 8 |
| 2.2 Acute renal failure risk associated with antihypertensive | |
| drugs. | 10 |
| 2.2.1 Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and | 44 |
| Angiotensin receptor biockers. | 11 |
| 2.2.3 Antihypertensive polytherapy. | 16 |

| Chapter 3 - Methods. | 17 |
|--|----------------------------|
| 3.1 Study objectives.3.1.1 General objective.3.1.2 Specific objectives. | 17 17 17 |
| 3.2 Overview of study design. | 17 |
| 3.3 Sources of data. 3.3.1 The Med-Echo database. 3.3.2 The RAMQ drug prescription claim database. 3.3.3 The RAMQ physician fee claim database. | 18 18 19 19 |
| 3.4 Cohort definition 3.4.1 Inclusion criteria. 3.4.2 Exclusion criteria. 3.4.3 Date of entry and duration of follow-up. | 19 19 20 20 |
| 3.5 Data retrieval. 3.51 Baseline characteristics. 3.52 Baseline comorbidities. 3.53 Drug exposure. 3.54 Outcome assessment. | 20 20 21 21 22 |
| 3.6 Statistical analyses. | 22 |
| 3.7 Ethical considerations. | 24 |
| Chapter 4 - Results. | 25 |
| 4.1 Cohort recruitment. | 25 |
| 4.2 Cohort description and significant trends. | 28 |
| 4.3 Outcomes.4.3.1 Acute renal failure.4.3.2 Renal replacement therapy. | 37 37 40 |
| 4.4 Risk assessment. 4.4.1 Risks associated with baseline characteristics and comorbidities. | 43 43 |
| 4.4.2 Risks associated with antihypertensive drug categories. 4.4.3 Risks associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy. | 48 56 |

| Chapter 5. Discussion. | 63 |
|--|----|
| 5.1 Summary of study results. | 63 |
| 5.2 Biological and clinical plausibility of the results. | 66 |
| 5.3 Methodological issues. | 71 |
| 5.3.1 Selection bias. | 71 |
| 5.3.2 Information bias. | 72 |
| 5.33 Confounding. | 77 |
| Chapter 6. Conclusions. | 81 |
| Reference list. | 83 |
| Appendices | 91 |

List of tables, figures and appendices.

Tables.

| Table 1 . Baseline characteristics, comorbidities and selected outcomes for the entire cohort. | 29 |
|---|----|
| Table 2. Age distribution of cohort members according to gender. | 30 |
| Table 3. Comparison between individuals with a primary diagnosis ofsepsis and individuals with a secondary diagnosis of sepsis. | 32 |
| Table 4. Antihypertensive drug exposure by drug category for the entire cohort | 33 |
| Table 5. Antihypertensive drug exposure. Simultaneous drugexposure | 34 |
| Table 6. Comparison of subgroups with and without acute renal failure. | 39 |
| Table 7. Individuals treated with renal replacement therapy:comparison of subgroups with and without chronic renal failure. | 42 |
| Table 8. Risk of acute renal failure associated with baselinecharacteristics and comorbidities (Model A). | 44 |
| Table 9. Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with baselinecharacteristics and comorbidities (Model A). | 46 |
| Table 10. In-hospital mortality by age group according to acute renalfailure (ARF)/renal replacement therapy (RRT) status. | 47 |
| Table 11. Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensivedrug categories (model A). | 49 |
| Table 12. Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensivedrug categories (model A). Stratification for chronic heart failure. | 50 |
| Table 13. Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensivedrug categories (model A). Stratification for chronic renal failure | 51 |
| Table 14. Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensivedrug categories (model A). Stratification for primary or secondarydiagnosis of sepsis. | 53 |

| Table 15. Risk of renal replacement therapy associated withantihypertensive drug categories (model A). | 54 |
|---|----|
| Table 16. Risk of renal replacement therapy - associated withantihypertensive drug categories (model A). Stratification for chronicrenal failure | 55 |
| Table 17. Risk of acute renal failure associated with simultaneousexposure to antihypertensive drugs (model B) | 56 |
| Table 18. Risk of acute renal failure associated with simultaneousexposure to antihypertensive drugs (model B). Stratification forchronic heart failure. | 58 |
| Table 19. Risk of acute renal failure associated with simultaneousexposure to antihypertensive drugs (model B). Stratification forchronic renal failure. | 59 |
| Table 20. Risk of acute renal failure associated with simultaneousexposure to antihypertensive drugs (model B).Stratification forprimary or secondary diagnosis of sepsis. | 60 |
| Table 21 . Risk of renal replacement therapy associated withsimultaneous exposure to antihypertensive drugs (model B). | 61 |
| Table 22 Risk of renal replacement therapy associated withsimultaneous exposure to antihypertensive drugs (model B).Stratification for chronic renal failure. | 62 |

Figures

| Figure 1. Flow diagram of recruitment in the cohort. | 25 |
|---|----|
| Figure 2. Number of individuals included in the cohort and population-based incidence of sepsis | 27 |
| Figure 3. Prevalence of baseline comorbidities by year of cohort entry. | 31 |
| Figure 4. Prevalence of drug exposure by year of entry in the cohort. | 35 |
| Figure 5. Incidence of acute renal failure in cohort members, by year of cohort entry. | 36 |
| Figure 6 . Prevalence of exposure to antihypertensive drugs: number of drugs used simultaneously by year of cohort entry. | 36 |
| Figure 7. Incidence of acute renal failure in cohort members, by year of cohort entry. | 37 |
| Figure 8. Number of individuals with acute renal failure (ARF), by year of cohort entry, with and without prior chronic renal failure (CRF). | 38 |
| Figure 9. Number of individuals with acute renal failure (ARF) by year of cohort entry, and number who received renal replacement therapy. | 40 |
| Figure 10. Percentage of acute renal failure cases (ARF) who received renal replacement therapy (RRT) by year of cohort entry. | 41 |

Appendices

| Appendix 1 . Clinical criteria for the diagnosis of sepsis. | 91 |
|--|----|
| Appendix 2. ICD-9-CM codes used for diagnoses. | 92 |
| Appendix 3. <i>RAMQ</i> physician billing codes for renal replacement therapy | 96 |
| Appendix 4. Antihypertensive drugs grouped by categories. | 97 |
| Appendix 5. Antidiabetic drugs. | 99 |

Abbreviations.

- ACE Angiotensin converting enzyme
- ACEI Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor
- ADHF Acute decompensated heart failure
- ARB Angiotensin receptor blocker
- ARF Acute renal failure
- CCB Calcium channel blocker
- CHF Chronic heart failure
- CI Confidence interval
- CRF Chronic renal failure
- eGFR Estimated glomerular filtration rate.
- GFR Glomerular filtration rate
- ICD-9 CM International classification of diseases, ninth versionclinical modification.
- IQR Interquartile range
- NSAID Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agent
- O.R. Odds ratio
- RAMQ Régie de l'assurance maladie du Québec
- **RRT** Renal replacement therapy

Chapter 1-Introduction.

1.1 Epidemiology of sepsis

Sepsis is the contemporary medical term used to designate the generalized inflammatory response to acute infection. Broadly inclusive definitions of sepsis have been proposed and refined in two successive international consensus conferences, based on a composite of clinical criteria and abnormal laboratory results (appendix 1). *Severe sepsis* is defined as sepsis complicated by at least one organ dysfunction, or by shock. *Septic shock is* defined as a sustained decrease in arterial pressure which persists despite adequate fluid resuscitation, and necessitates treatment with intravenous vasopressor drugs ^{1,2}.

Sepsis is one of the most frequent and important syndromes encountered in clinical practice: recent population-based studies of the incidence of sepsis in the USA have reported incidence rates varying between 100 and 300 cases per 100,000 population/year. Age is a major risk factor for sepsis, and an exponential increase in incidence occurs between the ages of sixty-five (500 to 600 per 100,000/year) and eighty-five (1,000 to 2,600 per 100,000/year) ³⁻⁵.

Mortality associated with severe sepsis is also much higher in the elderly, with reported case-fatality ratios of 30 to 40% of for individuals aged more than 65, increasing to approximately 70% for those over 85. There has been a major increase in sepsis incidence during the 1980-2000 period, with an average annual increase of 8.7%, resulting in a threefold increase in the annual number of cases during that period. The severity of sepsis, as reflected by the number of diagnosed organ failures, seems to have increased, but case-fatality ratios have decreased, possibly because of improvements in medical care ⁶.

Because of a large increase in incidence, the total number of deaths attributable to sepsis has increased steadily. Sepsis is presently the tenth leading reported cause of death in the United States.

1.2 Organ dysfunction in sepsis.

Organ dysfunction is a frequent complication of sepsis, the pathophysiology of which is complex. Many possible mechanisms have been implicated, including decreased tissue perfusion, diffuse endothelial damage, activation of the coagulation and fibrinolytic cascades, micro-circulation abnormalities with maldistribution of capillary flow, tissue injury caused by inflammation, altered cellular metabolism, abnormal delivery and extraction of oxygen, and apoptosis. Although all organs/systems can suffer from sepsis-associated injury, the most frequently involved systems, in approximate order of frequency, are the cardiovascular, respiratory, renal, central nervous, digestive and coagulation systems. In sepsis, mortality is usually attributable to the underlying disease, or to nosocomial complications, but the occurrence of any organ dysfunction has a major negative impact on survival ^{7,8}. Simultaneous dysfunction of organ systems is frequent, and has a major impact on prognosis, the case-fatality ratio of sepsis rising from 15% when there is no organ dysfunction to over 70% with three or more simultaneous organ dysfunctions ⁹⁻¹².

1.3 Acute renal failure in sepsis.

Acute renal failure is a frequent complication of sepsis, with reported incidences ranging between 10% in population-based studies of sepsis and 50% in ICU-based studies. It is characterized by an acute decrease in kidney function. Clinical manifestations of acute renal failure include decreased urine output (oliguria) and/or a decrease of the glomerular filtration rate (GFR), which increases the serum creatinine concentration, the laboratory marker most frequently used to monitor renal function. Oliguria (defined as a sustained decrease in urine output below 0.3 ml kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) is a frequent manifestation of acute renal failure, and is generally associated with a more severe degree of kidney injury. However, in a large proportion of acute renal failure episodes (50-70%), urine output is maintained, despite severe reduction of glomerular filtration rate (*non-oliguric acute renal failure*).

Sepsis is reported to be the cause of 35 to 50% of ARF episodes occurring in intensive care units ¹³⁻¹⁶ and of 20 to 35% of ARF episodes occurring on general medical/surgical wards ^{17,18}.

In the intensive care unit, sepsis-related ARF is associated with a higher casefatality ratio (50 to 70%) than other causes of ARF. In individuals with more than one sepsis-related organ dysfunction, occurrence of ARF is an independent risk factor for in-hospital mortality¹⁹. The pathophysiology of sepsis-associated acute renal failure is complex and remains imperfectly understood ^{20,21}.

The relative contributions of ischemia and inflammation in the genesis of acute septic kidney injury remain debated ²²⁻²⁵, and may vary from patient to patient. Renal ischemia due to hypoperfusion, resulting from decreased blood pressure and vasoconstriction of renal arteries may be an important etiologic factor^{26,} but some laboratory and clinical studies indicate that renal perfusion is frequently maintained during severe sepsis, and it has been proposed that kidney injury is predominantly due to inflammation.

In some individuals, prompt correction of hypovolemia by intravenous fluid administration, and reversal of hypotension will result in a rapid recovery of renal function: in this setting, renal parenchyma is presumed not to have been injured significantly. This phenomenon is termed *pre-renal acute renal failure* and is associated with a more favourable prognosis. Other individuals, however, will progress to severe renal insufficiency, despite adequate fluid resuscitation and correction of hypotension. This shutdown of renal function can last from days to weeks. When acute renal failure is sustained and severe (corresponding to a glomerular filtration rate under 15 ml/min), renal replacement therapy becomes a vital necessity, to avoid, or correct, fluid overload, hyperkalemia and other lethal complications of the uremic syndrome. Population-based studies report the use of renal replacement therapy in 5-15 % of ARF episodes of various etiologies²⁷⁻³⁰, while in ICU-based studies 20-50% of patients with acute renal failure will receive renal replacement therapy^{15,16,18,31,32}. Most individuals who survive ARF will receive receive renal function within three months, and will no longer require

renal replacement therapy, but a minority (< 10%), typically patients with preexisting chronic renal impairment, will need long-term treatment with hemodialysis.

1.4 Acute renal failure: clinical and epidemiological diagnosis.

In the clinical setting, two parameters are used to recognize acute renal dysfunction:

- A) Oliguria, defined as a decrease in urine output to less than 0.5 ml kg⁻¹ h⁻¹ for more than six hours. Such a low urine output is not sufficient to maintain homeostasis of body fluids in an adult of normal size.
- B) An increase in serum creatinine levels. Creatinine is predominantly produced by striated muscles, enters the blood at a constant rate, and is almost exclusively eliminated by glomerular filtration. In individuals with stable renal function and a normal muscular mass, serum creatinine levels provide a reliable quantitative estimate of the GFR. In the context of acute renal failure, since steady-state concentrations of creatinine are not available, and in individuals with a low muscular mass, the GFR estimate provided by serum creatinine levels is much less precise. In current clinical practice, assessment of the severity of acute renal failure is limited by this lack of precision, and by the non-availability of accurate biological markers of renal parenchymal injury³³⁻³⁶.

Since even mild, transient decreases in renal function are associated with an increased risk of mortality, it has been suggested that the term «acute kidney injury» be preferred to «acute renal failure», to reflect that mild renal dysfunction, not associated with failure to maintain homeostasis, is still clinically and epidemiologically significant^{24,37}.

Epidemiologic studies of acute renal failure have been limited by the absence of a universally recognized definition of acute renal failure and by the lack of a satisfactory severity scoring system. This lack of uniformity in definition contributes to important variations in the reported incidences, etiologies and complication rates of acute renal failure. Recently, in an effort to achieve better standardization, two classifications/staging systems for acute renal injury has been proposed, the RIFLE and the Acute Kidney Injury Network systems, which both use acute elevations of serum creatinine concentration and levels of urine output to stratify the severity of acute renal failure^{37,38}. Validation studies suggest that these classification systems have predictive value for in-hospital length of stay and subsequent mortality³⁹. The RIFLE and AKIN severity grades have not yet attained widespread use, and the most recent version of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) does not provide a grading system for the severity of acute renal failure.

1.5 Can antihypertensive drugs cause sepsis-associated acute renal failure?

Acute renal failure occurring in the hospital setting is often multifactorial in etiology, with hypovolemia, myocardial dysfunction, toxic insults, arteriosclerotic vascular disease and chronic renal disease contributing importantly to the emergence of ARF.

Drugs can contribute to renal dysfunction and cause kidney injury by various mechanisms: direct cellular toxicity, allergic-type interstitial nephritis, acute urinary retention, hypovolemia, drug-induced hypotension or intrarenal arterial vasoconstriction.

Because of their blood-pressure lowering capacity, all antihypertensive agents have the potential to decrease renal function, since stability of the glomerular filtration rate is critically dependent on adequate arterial pressures. If an excessive reduction of blood pressure is caused by an antihypertensive agent, an acute decline in renal function is inevitable⁴⁰.

The potential effects of antihypertensive drugs on kidney function during sepsis deserve attention for several reasons.

First, sepsis is characterized by a fall in arterial pressure, which often evolves to septic shock. Sepsis-induced hypotension is caused by a combination of relative hypovolemia (due to dehydration, venous vasodilation and increased capillary

permeability), systemic arterial vasodilation and myocardial depression. Activation of the sympathetic autonomic nervous system (increasing plasma catecholamine concentrations), and activation of the renin-angiotensin IIaldosterone axis are compensatory responses aimed at increasing cardiac output, restoring vascular tone, maintaining glomerular filtration rate and minimizing hypovolemia through a reduction of urine output^{41,42}.

Various categories of antihypertensive drugs are likely to blunt these compensatory responses. Diuretic drugs can aggravate hypovolemia by inhibiting salt and water reabsorption in the renal tubules ^{43,44}. Beta-blockers inhibit sympathetic stimulation of the heart, and inhibit renin release. Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors decrease plasma levels of angiotensin II and aldosterone, while angiotensin receptor blockers inhibit the action of angiotensin II and decrease plasma levels of aldosterone. Angiotensin II and catecholamineinduced vasoconstriction is inhibited by calcium channel blockers, which prevent the increase of cytosolic calcium concentration responsible for vascular smooth muscle contraction.

Second, exposure to antihypertensive drugs is steadily increasing in the elderly population. Chronic hypertension is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in adults, and is one of the most important public health problems worldwide. Blood pressure levels increase steadily with age, and, in Canada, more than half of adults aged over 65 years have chronic hypertension, although a large number are undiagnosed and untreated. Hypertension prevalence is constantly increasing as the proportion of elder citizens in the population increases. Accordingly, there has been a major increase antihypertensive drug use: between 1996 and 2006, the total number of delivered prescriptions of antihypertensive drugs in Canada has doubled, and the proportion of hypertensives taking more than one type of antihypertensive drug has risen from 20% to more than 40% ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁹.

This is related to increased hypertension prevalence, to a greater general awareness of the benefits of hypertension control, and to a more favourable risk-

benefit and side-effect profile of newer antihypertensive drugs. Clinical indications for many of these drugs (ACEIs, ARBs, beta blockers), have also expanded because of demonstrated benefits in the treatment of chronic diseases such as coronary disease, diabetes, chronic heart failure, and chronic renal disease. More than 40 different drugs are currently available for treatment of hypertension. The drugs most commonly used belong to six different categories: angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), diuretics (thiazide diuretics and loop diuretics), calcium channel blockers (CCBs) and beta-blockers. Of the six major drug categories, four have been associated with acute renal failure: ACEIs, ARBs, loop diuretics, and, to a lesser extent, thiazide diuretics. These associations will be discussed in the following chapter.

Finally, most studies evaluating the causal role of drugs in hospital-acquired acute renal failure have focused on drug therapy administered in the hospital ⁵⁰. Antihypertensive agents taken at home could have an impact on renal function during acute sepsis, either because they have a residual effect related to their long duration of action, or because outpatient drug treatment may be maintained in the hospital until overt sepsis and clinical instability become evident.

Chapter 2 - Literature review.

2.1 General risk factors for acute renal failure.

Acute renal failure is most often secondary to another medical condition or to a toxic insult than to a primary kidney disease (such as acute glomerulonephritis or acute interstitial nephritis). Most epidemiologic studies of risk factors for acute renal failure (population-based, hospital-based, or ICU-based studies) do not distinguish between sepsis-related ARF and other etiologies, and do not provide a specific analysis of risk factors in the context of sepsis. However, epidemiologic studies of secondary ARF, irrespective of etiology, have identified the following risk factors.

2.1.1 Demographic characteristics.

Age is undoubtedly a major risk factor for ARF: community-based cohort studies of acute renal failure demonstrate a strong association between the incidence of ARF and advancing age, up to the age of 85 years. ^{29,30,51}.

Advancing age is also recognized as a risk factor for acute renal failure in other clinical contexts such as contrast induced nephropathy ⁵², cardiac surgery ⁵³, NSAID toxicity ⁵⁴ etc..

An impact of gender on the risk of acute renal failure is less certain: although a higher risk of acute renal failure with male gender has been reported in some population-based studies^{29,30,51,54,55}, other studies have not found a significant association of ARF risk^{13,14,53,56-60}. An increase of ARF risk with female gender has been reported in the context of revascularization of coronary disease, but this could be related to the greater age and a greater burden of risk factors of women who underwent this category of procedures^{61,62}.

2.1.2 Chronic comorbidities.

Chronic renal failure is the medical comorbidity most consistently and strongly associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure. Hsu et al. have reported on the incidence of acute renal failure in adult members of the Kaiser Permanente health care delivery system (Northern California). Multivariate logistic regression was performed, analysing 602 026 hospitalized adults, of which 1746 developed acute renal failure treated with renal replacement therapy. This analysis demonstrated that the risk of receiving renal replacement therapy was very strongly linked to the severity of pre-existing CRF. Using non-diabetic individuals with an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) of \geq 60 ml*min ⁻¹ as the reference group, they found the adjusted odds ratios for acute renal replacement therapy to be 5.5, 25.0 and 38.2 for subgroups with eGFRs of 30-44 ml*min⁻¹, 15-29 ml*min ⁻¹, and < 15 ml*min ⁻¹ respectively. The adjusted odds ratios were even higher (8.2, 33.7 and 44.8) for diabetic individuals with corresponding levels of eGFRs ⁵⁹.

Other studies have also reported a strong association between pre-existing chronic renal failure and the risk of ARF^{14,51-54,56,60}.

Epidemiologic studies of chronic heart failure have demonstrated that this common disease is another important risk factor for acute renal failure^{57,58,63-65}. In individuals with chronic heart failure, deterioration of renal function often occurs during an acute decompensation of cardiac function: this can be caused by a decrease in cardiac output or in arterial pressure, an increase in central and renal venous pressures or as a complication of drug treatment (which will be discussed in section 2.2). Simultaneous acute impairment of cardiac and renal function is designated as *the cardiorenal syndrome*, and is associated with a less favourable prognosis⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸.

Chronic liver disease is an acknowledged risk factor for acute renal failure, particularly when cirrhosis and portal hypertension are present. Cirrhotic patients are at high risk of both bacterial sepsis and gastrointestinal haemorrhage, which frequently precipitate ARF, which is then associated with a mortality exceeding 50%^{69,70}. The risk of ARF in these patients appears to be proportional to the severity of the underlying cirrhosis and to the accumulated volume of ascitic fluid ⁷¹⁻⁷⁴.

Diabetes and chronic hypertension, two highly prevalent diseases, have been identified as independent risk factors for acute renal failure in many clinical settings: population-based studies ^{51,59}, studies of contrast nephropathy^{58,61}, of NSAID nephropathy⁵⁴, in the setting of coronary revascularization^{53,62} and during the in-hospital treatment of decompensated heart failure^{63,65,75}. This increase in risk is likely to be related to functional and anatomic changes of the renal microvasculature which appear in the early stages of these diseases^{76,77}.

Atherosclerotic vascular disease has also been reported as a risk factor for acute renal failure. Severe atherosclerotic disease of the renal arteries is a well-known cause of chronic renal failure, but the association of subclinical arterial disease with ARF has recently been demonstrated by the Cardiovascular Health Study, a prospective observational cohort study of more than 5 000 individuals aged over

65, for which a large amount of demographic, clinical and laboratory data was collected at entry in the cohort. Cohort members were afterwards followed for a median period of 10.2 years. During this period, approximately 4% of the cohort developed acute renal failure. Diabetes, hypertension and established coronary disease were independently associated with a greater risk of acute renal failure. Of considerable interest is the fact that baseline markers of subclinical atherosclerotic disease, such as a decreased ankle-arm systolic pressure index and an increased carotid artery intima-media thickness, were also independently associated with an increased ARF risk⁵¹.

2.2 Acute renal failure risk associated with antihypertensive drugs.

All antihypertensive drugs have the potential to adversely affect renal function, by lowering blood pressure below the levels required to maintain renal perfusion and glomerular filtration. However, in routine clinical use, antihypertensive drugs produce a small, but clinically non-significant (< 5 ml*min⁻¹) decrease in glomerular filtration during the first months of their use^{78,79}. This small decrease in renal function is largely offset, on the long-term, by the protective effect of these drugs on kidney function, since adequate control of blood pressure prevents progressive renal vascular sclerosis induced by hypertension⁸⁰.

Despite this generally favourable effect, four antihypertensive drug classes have been identified as increasing the risk of acute renal failure in individuals with predisposing comorbidities. The first three classes are the ACEIs, the ARBs and loop diuretics. The fourth class, thiazide diuretics, is cited as a cause of hypovolemia and acute renal failure, but much less data is available to assess the risk of ARF associated with this category of drugs. The other two major antihypertensive drug classes, calcium channel blockers and beta-blockers, have not been associated with acute renal failure^{40,81,82}.

A new category of antihypertensive drugs, direct renin inhibitors, will not be considered in this review, since they were not in use during the study period. In the following paragraphs, we will review the literature related to the risk of acute renal failure associated with the first four drug categories, and the risk associated with simultaneous usage of antihypertensive drugs (polytherapy).

2.2.1 Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and Angiotensin receptor blockers:

These two drug categories have been demonstrated to be effective in the prevention and/or treatment of a wide variety of chronic diseases (hypertension, diabetes, chronic heart failure, coronary disease, chronic renal failure). Experimental studies in animals, randomized clinical trial, a large number of retrospective studies and case reports, have all provided extensive evidence that selective antagonism of the renin-angiotensin II-aldosterone axis by these drugs can produce an acute decrease of the glomerular filtration rate. The magnitude of this problem will vary depending on predisposing comorbidities, such as chronic heart failure and chronic renal failure, and on concurrent acute illnesses producing hypotension and/or hypovolemia ^{40,81,82}.

The effects of ACEIs and ARBs on renal function seem to be very comparable, as evidenced by the ONTARGET study ^{83,84}, a randomized controlled clinical study of 25,620 with cardiovascular disease or diabetes (patients without heart failure), comparing the renal effects of the ACEI ramipril with the ARB telmisartan, and with a combination of both agents. After a median follow-up of 56 months, the incidence of renal impairment (as defined by the attending physician) was reported to be 10.2 % in the group receiving ramipril, and 10.6% in the group receiving telmisartan. Renal impairment was mild, however, and rarely required treatment discontinuation (ramipril 0.7 %, telmisartan 0.8 %) and acute renal failure requiring renal replacement therapy occurred in only 0.15% (ramipril) and 0.23% (telmisartan) of patients.

In clinically stable individuals *without* significant chronic heart failure or renal failure, the risk of ACEIs or ARBs induced acute renal failure seems to be very low. For example, the EUROPA trial, a prospective randomized study of 12,218 patients, compared the ACEI perindopril to placebo for the prevention of

cardiovascular events ⁸⁵. After a mean follow-up period of 4.2 years, the incidence of acute renal failure was equal in both treatment groups (0.3%). Similarly, in the VALUE trial ⁸⁶, a prospective randomized study of 15,245 patients comparing the ARB Valsartan to Amlodipine for the prevention of cardiovascular events, after a mean follow-up of 4.2 years, the average creatinine serum levels rose from 101 to 108 µmol/l in the Valsartan group, and from 101 to 103 µmol/l in the Amlodipine group, a difference without clinical significance. Furthermore, no case of acute renal failure was reported in either group.

Patients with chronic heart failure or advanced chronic renal failure. appear to be at higher risk of acute renal dysfunction when therapy with ACEIs or ARBs is initiated:

Bridoux et al. reported one of the first retrospective series of 27 patients experiencing acute renal failure (defined as a doubling of serum creatinine levels or a rise over 180 µmol/l) while receiving ACEI treatment ⁸⁷. Renal arteriography had been performed to rule out renal artery stenoses. Renal biopsy (performed in 10 patients) showed only tubular necrosis or arteriosclerosis of the small renal arteries. Predisposing factors for acute renal failure were present in all patients: chronic heart failure (nine cases), chronic renal failure (eight cases), diuretic therapy (twenty-four cases), NSAID therapy (six cases), gastrointestinal fluid losses (seven cases). The majority of these cases had multiple predisposing factors.

Bakris et al ⁸⁸ have reviewed 12 randomized clinical trials reporting on a total of 1102 patients *with chronic renal failure* starting treatment with an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor. In these studies, reduction of the glomerular filtration rate occurred within two weeks of treatment initiation, but the average decrease in renal function after six months of therapy was mild, (between 0.4 and 14.4 ml/minute), and at the end of follow-up (study durations of 2 to 5 years), the average decrease in GFR was even less marked (between 0.7 and 7.1 ml/min). Thus, although some reduction in GFR is associated with ACEI therapy in individuals with chronic renal failure, clinically significant acute renal failure is

uncommon, provided no precipitating events occur. The authors also noted that individuals experiencing more important initial decreases in GFR seemed to obtain better long-term protection against progression of renal failure, a therapeutic benefit of ACEIs and ARBs which is attributed to their antihypertensive effects and their ability to reduce proteinuria.

In the CONSENSUS trial⁸⁹, which randomized patients with severe heart failure to either placebo (n = 120) or the ACEI enalapril (n = 123), mean serum creatinine levels increased by 13% after two weeks of treatment and remained at that level during the six following months, while there was no significant change of creatinine levels in the placebo group. Thirty-five percent of patients treated with enalapril had an increase in creatinine levels of more than 30% over baseline. Patients with the greatest increase in serum creatinine had lower blood pressure levels during treatment and were receiving higher doses of the loop diuretic furosemide (mean dose: 280 mg). Deterioration of renal function was observed either during concurrent illness, surgery or marked hypotension following enalapril administration.

In the SOLVD study⁶³, 3379 patients with severe heart failure were assigned to treatment with enalapril, and compared to an equal number of patients treated with placebo. During an average follow-up of 779 days, the incidence of impaired renal function (defined as a rise in serum creatinine greater than 44 µmol/l) was 15% in the enalapril group and 12% in the placebo group.

Packer et al⁹⁰ reported a prospective study of 104 patients with severe chronic heart failure: hemodynamic assessment with a pulmonary artery catheter was done before introduction of an ACEI, after the first dose, and after 1 to 3 months of treatment. Deterioration of renal function (defined as an increase in serum creatinine of more than 35 μ mol/I) occurred in 34 patients. Compared to those with stable renal function, these individuals had lower baseline right atrial pressure, and received higher doses of furosemide (mean dose 119 mg/24 hour vs. 89 mg/24 hour). After the first dose of the ACEI, and at the end of the study period, the subgroup with significant deterioration of renal functiont was found to have greater reductions of both left ventricular filling pressures and mean arterial pressures and greater increases in plasma renin activity, suggesting that relative hypovolemia, due to aggressive diuretic treatment, increases the risk of renal function deterioration under ACEI treatment.

Some retrospective studies of renal function impairment in patients hospitalized for acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF) have not found a relation between ACEI exposure and acute renal failure (Krumholz et al.⁶⁴, Forman et al.⁶⁵, Chittineni et al.⁷⁵). In a fourth, prospective cohort study of 114 patients hospitalized with ADHF, Cruz et al.⁹¹ reported that the 30-day cumulative incidence of ARF was 25%. Although neither exposure to ACEIs or to diuretics was related to the occurrence of ARF, a decrease in mean blood pressure exceeding 25 mm Hg after the introduction of an ACE inhibitor was strongly predictive of acute renal failure.

Overall, despite some discrepancies in the literature, the sum of the accumulated evidence clearly identifies exposure to ACEIs or ARBs as an important risk factor for the development of acute renal failure in individuals with predisposing chronic illnesses.

2.2.2 Loop diuretics and thiazide diuretics.

When diuretics are used to treat uncomplicated hypertension, the associated risk of acute renal failure seems to be very low⁴⁰. In conditions such as heart failure, chronic renal failure and cirrhosis, deterioration of renal function is widely acknowledged as a complication of diuretic therapy, and is believed to result from diuresis-induced hypovolemia^{43,44.} However, in published prospective clinical trials of hypertension treatment with thiazide diuretics, the frequency and severity of acute renal failure are not well defined ^{67,92,93}. For example, published reports from the ALLHAT study, a large-scale trial comparing a thiazide (chlortalidone) to an ACEI (lisinopril) and to a calcium channel blocker (amlodipine) as first-line therapy for hypertension ^{94,95}, do not specify the frequency of acute renal failure. Most of the data on diuretic-associated renal failure originate from studies of inhospital deterioration of renal function during treatment of acute decompensated

heart failure (ADHF) and outpatient studies of congestive heart failure treatment. To treat congestive heart failure, loop diuretics, rather than thiazide diuretics, are generally used.

In-hospital diuretic use:

Two studies have reported renal function impairment associated with diuretic treatment of individuals hospitalized for acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF): in a nested case-control study of 382 patients (191 ARF cases and 191 controls) Butler et al,⁹⁶ using multivariate analysis, demonstrated a greater risk of renal impairment with higher doses of loop diuretics. In another retrospective cohort study of patients hospitalized with heart failure, Sun et al⁹⁷, used multivariate analysis to demonstrate a significant risk of renal impairment with higher doses and longer duration of loop diuretic use.

Other retrospective studies of renal impairment during in-hospital ADHF treatment, previously cited, have not found an association between diuretic exposure or dosage and acute renal failure^{64,65,75,91}.

Outpatient diuretic treatment:

An association of renal function impairment with outpatient diuretic treatment has been observed in outpatients with chronic heart failure:

In the SOLVD study ⁶³, multivariate logistic regression suggested that the use of either thiazide diuretics or loop diuretics was associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure, while exposure to beta-blockers was associated with a lower risk.

In the prospective study of chronic heart failure patients by Packer et al, previously cited⁹⁰, during a six-week observation period, the 34 individuals who developed renal impairment after starting treatment with an ACEI were exposed to significantly higher baseline doses of furosemide (mean dose 119 mg/24 hour) than the 70 individuals whose renal function remained stable (mean dose 89 mg/24 hour).

2.3 Antihypertensive polytherapy.

Although this has not been studied in the context of sepsis, the risk of ARF associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy has been studied in other clinical settings.

Strong evidence exists for the negative impact of an ACEI + ARB association on renal function: Phillips et al ⁹⁸ have reported a systematic review of randomized clinical trials comparing combination treatment with ACEIs and ARBs to monotherapy with ACEIs in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. Four randomized clinical trials (with a total of 17,337 patients) met the criteria for inclusion in their review. Pooling the results from these trials revealed that deterioration of renal function occurred in 2.4% of patients on ACEI monotherapy and in 4.1% of patients on ACEI/ARB combination therapy.

The ONTARGET study^{83,84}, cited previously, demonstrated that combination therapy with telmisartan and ramipril was associated with a higher risk of renal function impairment (13.5%) than monotherapy with either agent (telmisartan 10.6%, and ramipril 10.2%), with an odds ratio of 1.33 (95% C.I. 1.22-1.44). The high frequency of renal function impairment in the ONTARGET study probably results from liberal criteria used by attending physicians to diagnose renal impairment. If a more strict definition of renal impairment (doubling of serum creatinine levels) was used, the frequency of renal impairment was much less, but still higher with combination therapy (1.9% with combination therapy, 1.8% with telmisartan monotherapy, 1.6% with ramipril monotherapy).

There are less data available on the risk associated with the combination of diuretics with ACEIs, ARBs or other categories of antihypertensive drugs. Demonstration of an increased risk with combination therapy comes mainly from retrospective studies of heart failure patients, described in the preceding section ^{63,97,99}.

Chapter 3-Methods.

3.1 Study objectives.

3.1.1 General objective.

To assess if outpatient anti-hypertensive drug exposure is associated with an increased risk of developing acute renal failure in patients hospitalized with sepsis.

3.1.2 Specific objectives.

1) To assess if outpatient exposure to ACEIs, ARBs, loop diuretics or thiazide diuretics are associated with a greater risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure than use of other first-line antihypertensive drugs, such as beta blockers and calcium channel blockers.

2) To assess if outpatient exposure to a greater number of antihypertensive agents is associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure in patients hospitalized with sepsis.

3.2 Overview of study design.

A cohort was built using the MedEcho database of all acute care hospitalizations in Québec, which is available through the *Régie de l'Assurance Maladie du Québec* (RAMQ), the board which administers the universal state health insurance plan. Patients aged 65 years or more, hospitalized during the years 1997-2004 with either a primary or secondary discharge diagnosis of septicemia or bacteremia were candidates for inclusion in the cohort. A cohort of more than 25,000 patients was thus assembled, and the following information was retrieved from the database: baseline characteristics, discharge diagnoses, year of hospitalization, transfer between acute-care hospitals and in-hospital mortality. This database was linked to other RAMQ databases to obtain data on individual exposure to antihypertensive drugs in the 60-day period preceding the index admission date, and document the use of renal replacement therapy.

3.3 Sources of data:

Data for this study were obtained from administrative databases in Québec, Canada, over the 1996-2004 period. These databases are the Med-Echo database of hospital discharges, the RAMQ prescription drug database and the RAMQ physician claim database. These databases can be cross-linked, using a crypted identification code derived from each individual's health insurance number.

3.3.1 The Med-Echo database provides information from hospital discharge summaries for all acute care hospitalizations in Québec. This includes demographic characteristics, dates of admission and discharge, discharge diagnoses, inpatient procedures and vital status at discharge, which were coded according to the ICD-9-CM classification system during the study period.

Given the centralized and confidential nature of this database, chart review of a subsample of medical files was not possible, so that estimates of the sensitivity and specificity of coding for various diagnoses or therapeutic interventions could not be computed. Previous chart validation studies of the accuracy of ICD-9-CM coding for chronic medical illnesses have demonstrated sensitivities ranging from 20 to 80% and specificities ranging from 90 to 100%, depending on the illnesses studied. For acute renal failure, similar chart validation studies have demonstrated sensitivities ranging from 30 to 50%, and specificities ranging from 90 to 95%. Overall, previous studies demonstrate a good positive predictive value, but a poor negative predictive value for ICD-9 CM coding. Thus, if an illness is recorded in an ICD-9-CM registry such as MedEcho, the diagnosis is very likely to be correct, but if a highly prevalent illness is not coded, it nevertheless may have been present.

3.3.2 The RAMQ drug prescription claim database contains information on prescription drugs dispensed to individuals covered by the state drug insurance plan (in-hospital and ambulatory clinic drug dispensing do not figure in the database). For individuals 65 years and older, prescription drug coverage by the state health care plan is complete. For this reason, we limited our study to

individuals 65 years and older, which ensured complete capture of prescription drug delivery. Information available in this database include drug names, doses, dosage forms, quantity delivered, dispensation dates, treatment durations, encrypted patient identification codes and prescribing physician codes.

3.3.3 The physician fee claim database contains information on physician fee claims for all medical services delivered under the Québec health insurance plan. Information available in the database include patient identification code, type of service provided, date and location of service delivery, dispensing physician and referring physician identification. For in-hospital care, since the vast majority of Québec physicians adhere to the universal state health care plan, reliability of medical service dispensation data is excellent, and provision of renal replacement therapy (intermittent hemodialysis or continuous hemofiltration) can be identified by specific billing code numbers.

3.4 Cohort definition.

3.4.1 Inclusion criteria.

The following three criteria were mandatory for inclusion in the cohort:

- A) Age of 65 years or more at the time of index hospitalization.
- B) Hospitalization in an acute care hospital in Québec in the period extending from January 1st 1997 to December 31st 2004. January 1st 1997 was chosen as the beginning of the study period, in order to have, for all individuals in the cohort, data for outpatient drug dispensing and medical care in the year preceding the index date of admission.
- C) A primary or secondary discharge diagnosis of septicemia or bacteremia (see appendix 2 for corresponding ICD-9-CM codes). Septicemia and bacteremia codes were used for case definition, since sepsis does not appear as a specific diagnosis in the ICD-9-CM classification system. Although bacteremia and septicemia are distinct medical entities, bacteremia is highly likely to produce, at least transiently, a septic response. Similar case

definitions have been used previously in population-based studies of sepsis^{3,5,6}.

3.4.2 Exclusion criteria.

Individuals were not included in the cohort if one of the two following criteria was met:

- A. Duration of index hospitalization exceeding 180 days.
- B. Renal replacement therapy (hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis or continuous hemofiltration) had been provided prior to the index admission date.
- C. Prior entry in the cohort for an acute sepsis episode.

3.4.3 Date of entry and duration of follow-up.

Date of entry in the cohort was defined as the admission date of the index hospitalization. Individuals were considered as leaving the cohort on the date of hospital discharge (or on the date of in-hospital death). If individuals had more than one hospitalization with sepsis during the study period, data on subsequent hospitalizations were not used. However, if an individual was discharged to be transferred on the same day to another acute-care hospital, the two hospitalizations were considered a single acute-care episode, and data from the second hospitalization were merged with data from the first hospitalization for subsequent analysis.

3.5 Data retrieval.

3.51 Baseline characteristics.

The following individual characteristics were retrieved: year of hospitalization, age, gender, occurrence of shock, length of hospitalization, in-hospital mortality, and whether septicemia/bacteremia were coded as primary diagnoses or secondary diagnoses.

3.52 Baseline comorbidities.

Presence of the following comorbidities was identified by searching for corresponding ICD-9-CM diagnostic codes in the MedEcho discharge

summaries: hypertension, diabetes, coronary disease, heart failure, chronic renal failure, peripheral arterial disease, and chronic liver disease (see Appendix 3 for a list of corresponding ICD-9-CM codes). An individual was also classified as being diabetic if outpatient dispensing of either insulin or oral hypoglycemic drugs occurred in the 60-day period prior to the index admission (see appendix 5).

3.53 Drug exposure.

Using the RAMQ drug prescription database, prescriptions delivered in the 60day period preceding the index admission date were reviewed, to identify delivery of the following antihypertensive drugs: thiazide diuretics, loop diuretics, potassium sparing diuretics, Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs), Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), beta blockers, calcium channel blockers, alpha blockers, arterial vasodilators, CNS agents and ganglioplegics (agents acting on the central nervous system or on the autonomic nervous system), nitrates (oral and percutaneous forms). Dispensation of insulin or oral hypoglycaemic drugs was also recorded as a marker for the presence of diabetes (see Appendices 4 and 5 for a list of antihypertensive and antidiabetic drug categories).

Individuals were classified as exposed to a drug if they had received at least one prescription of the drug in the 60-day period preceding the index admission. If a delivered prescription was a combination of two different antihypertensive drugs (for example an ACE inhibitor and a thiazide diuretic), the individual was considered as having been exposed to both drug categories. Although they were available in the drug prescription database, drug dosages were not entered in the statistical models, because a multivariate analysis including drug doses would necessitate more than thirty drug exposure covariates, a number which would make analysis of the results exceedingly difficult.

3.54 Outcome assessment.

Two outcomes were studied.

<u>The first outcome was acute renal failure</u>, identified by ICD-9-CM codes for acute renal failure in the MedEcho discharge data (see Appendix 2 for a list of

corresponding ICD-9-CM codes), or by the introduction of renal replacement therapy during the index hospitalization (see Appendix 3 for a list of corresponding RAMQ fee claim codes). The MedEcho database does not provide laboratory data, so the severity of acute renal failure (or of pre-existing chronic renal failure) could not be assessed, otherwise than by provision of renal replacement therapy, which is typically initiated when glomerular filtration rates fall below 15 ml min⁻¹.

<u>The second outcome was use of renal replacement therapy</u> during the index hospitalization, identified by specific billing codes for either hemodialysis or hemofiltration initiated during the index hospitalization.

3.6 Statistical analyses.

Descriptive statistics were computed to define baseline cohort characteristics. Analysis of yearly fluctuations in the variables was done to identify time-related trends.

The odds ratios, for the associations between drug exposure and the two outcomes of interest, acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy, were computed using logistic regression. Logistic regression was also used to estimate crude odds ratios for these outcomes in association with each covariate, such as baseline characteristics, baseline comorbidities, and other drug exposures. In order to adjust for confounding, multivariate logistic regression was performed, using two different models.

In the first model (*model A*) drug exposure was analyzed according to documented delivery of specific antihypertensive drug categories in the 60-day period prior to the index admission. The following drug categories were included in the model: thiazide diuretics, loop diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, beta blockers, calcium channel blockers. Exposures to less frequently used antihypertensives (potassium sparing diuretics, alpha-blockers, drugs acting on the central nervous system, ganglioplegics, arterial vasodilators, oral or percutaneous nitrates) were also included in the multivariate models, but the analysis of risks associated with drug class exposure focused on the more commonly used drug categories. If a prescription consisting of a drug combination (such as an ACEI and a thiazide diuretic) was delivered, individuals were considered to have been exposed to both drug categories.

<u>In the second model (model B)</u> drug exposure was defined by the number of antihypertensive drug categories delivered in the 60-day period prior to the index admission. This was done to assess if exposure to a greater number of antihypertensive drugs was associated with a greater risk.

The following covariates were included in both models: baseline characteristics (year of admission, age, gender, primary vs. secondary diagnosis of sepsis) and baseline comorbidities (hypertension, diabetes, coronary disease, chronic heart failure, peripheral arterial disease, chronic renal failure, chronic liver disease). Although we recorded the diagnosis of shock in our data, we did not include it as a covariate in either model, because we considered that shock would be likely to stand in the putative causal pathway between antihypertensive drug exposure and the occurrence of acute renal failure, and should not be treated as a possible confounder.

In order to further analyze possible effect modification, the analysis were stratified according to the following criteria:

For the acute renal failure outcome, chronic heart failure and chronic renal failure were used for stratification because these comorbidities were associated with the highest risk of acute renal failure, and were likely to be associated with more frequent exposure to specific drug categories, such as ACEIs, ARBs and loop diuretics. Primary/secondary diagnosis of sepsis was also used for stratification of acute renal failure risk assessment, since cohort members with a secondary diagnosis had a higher risk of acute renal failure, and because in-hospital drug exposure may differ from outpatient drug exposure (the RAMQ databases contain no information on in-hospital drug treatment).

For renal replacement therapy, stratification was limited to the presence or absence of chronic renal failure, because the small number of individuals who received renal replacement therapy limited the precision of the analysis, and because chronic renal failure proved to be the most important risk factor effect for the outcome of renal replacement therapy, and the most significant modifier of risk estimates for drug exposures.

All analyses were performed using SAS statistical software, version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary NC., USA).

3.7 Ethical considerations.

Information within the RAMQ computerized databases is available for research purposes. Strict patient confidentiality is maintained through the use of an encrypted identification code, so that nominal information cannot be retrieved from the data.

The *Commission d'accès à l'information du Québec* gave consent to our use of the databases for this study. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the McGill University Health Center. As this was an observational, retrospective, non-nominal study, informed consent of patients or surrogates was not required.
Chapter 4-Results.

4.1 Cohort recruitment.

The MedEcho database was searched, and among all acute care hospitalizations in Québec between January 1st 1997 and December 31st 2004, 26 580 individual aged 65 years or more were discharged with a primary or secondary diagnosis of septicemia and/or bacteremia. Of these, 750 individuals were excluded from the cohort: 570 because they had received renal replacement therapy prior to the index hospitalization, 178 because the index hospitalization lasted more than 180 days, and two individuals because of internal data inconsistency. The residual (a total of 25 830 individuals) was included in the cohort (figure 1).



Figure 1. Flow diagram of recruitment in the cohort. A progressive increase in the annual numbers discharged with a diagnosis of septicemia and/or bacteremia was noted throughout the study period (figure 2), with the annual number of sepsis cases increasing from 2386 to 3851. This corresponds to an increase in incidence rate from 268 cases per 100,000 person-years in 1997 to 379 cases per 100,000 person-years in 2004, for the population of Québec aged 65 years or more (figure 2a and 2b). This important increase in sepsis incidence is similar to what is reported during equivalent time periods in other population-based epidemiologic studies of sepsis.



4.2 Cohort description and significant trends.

Baseline characteristics and selected outcomes: Table 1 provides baseline characteristics, associated comorbidities and selected outcomes for the entire cohort. This is an elderly cohort, more than 60% of individuals being at least 75 years old, and the proportion of older individuals increasing during the study period. Women and men are almost equally represented, but there is an important difference in the age structure of genders, men outnumbering women in the 65 to 74 years group, and women outnumbering men in the group aged 85 or more (table 2).

Chronic comorbidities: this cohort has a high prevalence of chronic comorbidities: diabetes, hypertension, coronary disease, chronic heart failure, peripheral arterial disease and chronic renal failure (table 1). During the eight-year study period, important increases in the prevalence ratios occurred for hypertension (from 29% to 50%), chronic renal failure (from 14% to 23%), coronary disease (from 25% to 38%) and diabetes (from 24% to 29%) (figure 3A). The prevalence ratio of chronic heart failure and peripheral arterial disease remained fairly stable at approximately 20%, while the prevalence ratio of chronic liver disease increased slightly, but remained low (4 to 6%) (figure 3B).

| Baseline characteristics. | |
|---|------------------|
| Year of admission (median, IQR) | 2001 (1999-2003) |
| Age, years (median, IQR) | 77 (71-83) |
| Male gender (%) | 13126 (50.8) |
| Sepsis is a secondary diagnosis (%) | 19512 (75.6) |
| Baseline comorbidities. | |
| Hypertension (%) | 10604 (41.0) |
| Diabetes (%) | 6794 (26.2) |
| Coronary disease (%) | 8751 (33.9) |
| Chronic heart failure (%) | 5001 (19.3) |
| Chronic renal failure (%) | 4513 (17.5) |
| Peripheral arterial disease (%) | 5497 (21.2) |
| Chronic liver disease (%) | 1973 (4.5) |
| Outcomes | |
| Shock (%) | 2843 (11.0) |
| Acute renal failure (%) | 5585 (17.5) |
| Hospitalization duration (days), median (IQR) | 13 (6-29) |
| In-hospital mortality (%) | 7656 (29.6) |

Table 1. Baseline characteristics, comorbidities and selected outcomes for the
entire cohort (n = 25830).

| | Women (%) | Men (%) | Total |
|----------------|--------------|--------------|-------|
| 65 to 74 years | 4194 (42.2) | 5747 (57.8) | 9941 |
| 75 to 84 years | 5484 (50.2) | 5439 (49.8) | 10923 |
| ≥ 85 years | 3026 (60.9) | 1940 (39.1) | 4966 |
| Total | 12704 (49.2) | 13126 (50.8) | 25830 |

 Table 2. Age distribution of cohort members according to gender.

Figure 3.

Prevalence (%) of baseline comorbidities by year of cohort entry.

A) Hypertension, coronary disease, diabetes and chronic renal failure.

B) Peripheral arterial disease, heart failure and chronic liver disease.



Approximately three fourths (19 512/25 830) of individuals in the cohort received a secondary, rather than primary, discharge diagnosis of sepsis. Individuals with a secondary diagnosis had a more complicated hospital course, as reflected by a greater duration of hospitalization, a higher incidence of acute renal failure, more sepsis-associated organ dysfunctions, and greater in-hospital mortality (table 3).

| | Primary diagnosis n = 6318 n (%) | Secondary diagnosis n = 19512 n (%) |
|--|--|---|
| Baseline characteristics. | | |
| Age (years) (median, IQR) | 78 (72-84) | 77 (71-83) |
| Male gender | 3087 (48.9) | 10 039 (51.4) |
| Baseline comorbidities. | | |
| Hypertension | 2601 (41.2) | 8003 (41.0) |
| Diabetes | 1808 (28.6) | 4986 (25.5) |
| Coronary disease | 1992 (31.5) | 6759 (34.6) |
| Chronic heart failure | 1095 (17.3) | 3906 (20.0) |
| Chronic renal failure | 1202 (19.0) | 3311 (17.0) |
| Peripheral arterial disease | 1218 (19.3) | 4276 (21.9) |
| Chronic liver disease | 317 (5.0) | 856 (4.4) |
| Outcomes | | |
| Hospitalization duration(days) median (IQR) | 8 (4-16) | 15 (7-33) |
| Mean number of acute organ dysfunctions (95% C.I.) | 0.47 (0.45-0.49) | 0.66 (0.65-0.67) |
| Shock | 540 (8.5) | 2303 (11.8) |
| Acute renal failure | 1036 (16.4) | 3549 (18.2) |
| In-hospital mortality | 1265 (20.0) | 6387 (32.7) |

Table 3: comparison between individuals with a primary diagnosis of sepsis and individuals with a secondary diagnosis of sepsis.

Exposure: drug categories and number of drugs used. Table 4 summarizes the exposure to antihypertensive drugs, defined as at least one prescription filled in the 60-day period preceding the index admission date. Prescriptions of calcium channel blockers were the most frequent (24% of cohort members), followed closely by ACEIs (22%) and loop diuretics (22%). Thiazide diuretics (14%) and beta-blockers (11%) were prescribed less frequently. Other classes of antihypertensive drugs (potassium-sparing diuretics, alpha blockers, nitrates, etc.) were much less frequently used, which is in accordance with contemporary guidelines on the treatment of hypertension^{100,101}.

| Drug category | n (%) |
|-------------------------------|-------------|
| Calcium channel blockers | 6267 (24.2) |
| ACE inhibitors | 5786 (22.2) |
| Loop diuretics | 5735 (22.2) |
| Thiazides | 3700 (14.3) |
| Beta blockers | 2991 (11.5) |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1905 (7.2) |
| Potassium sparing diuretics | 1714 (6.6) |
| Nitrates | 1149 (4.5) |
| Alpha blockers | 570 (2.2) |
| CNS agents and ganglioplegics | 391 (1.5) |
| Arterial vasodilators | 114 (0.4) |

Table 4: Antihypertensive drug exposure . - by drug category for the entire cohort (*n* = 25830).

Table 5 summarizes the proportion of cohort members exposed to antihypertensive drugs. The majority (67.7%) of cohort members had been exposed to at least one antihypertensive drug prior to hospital admission. Of those exposed, 20.8% were on monotherapy, while 36.9% were on polytherapy.

| Number of drugs | n (%) |
|--------------------------------------|--------------|
| No antihypertensive drugs | 10913 (42.3) |
| One antihypertensive drug | 5371 (20.8) |
| Two antihypertensive drugs | 5278 (20.4) |
| More than two antihypertensive drugs | 4268 (16.5) |

Table 5. Antihypertensive drug exposure. Simultaneous drug exposure for the entire cohort (n = 25830).

Trends in antihypertensive drug exposure: drug categories. Figure 4 represents trends in drug exposure during the study period. Exposure to all antihypertensive drug categories increased, the most notable increase occurring with angiotensin receptor blockers (from 1% to 14%), which corresponds to the introduction of ARBs on the Québec drug formulary at the beginning of the study period.

Trends in antihypertensive drug exposure: monotherapy and polytherapy. Figures 5 and 6 reflect the changing pattern of drug exposure during the study period. The proportion of individuals not exposed to antihypertensive drugs decreased from 50% to 35%. Polytherapy increased in frequency: the proportion of cohort entries using more than one drug increased from 29% to 43%. These trends are likely related to improved diagnosis and treatment of arterial hypertension in the general population, but may also be related to the increasing prevalence of chronic comorbidities in the cohort, since some of these diseases (heart failure, chronic renal failure, coronary disease) often necessitate polytherapy with drugs that are also used to treat hypertension (diuretics, ACEIs, ARBs and beta-blockers are used in the treatment of heart failure and of chronic renal failure). Similar trends in drug use have been reported in recent studies of cardiovascular pharmacotherapy in Canadians ^{45,46,102}.

Figure 4.

Prevalence (%) of drug exposure by year of entry in the cohort.

A) thiazide diuretics, loop diuretics and beta-blockers.

B) calcium channel blockers (CCBs), angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs).

A)



B)



Figure 5. Prevalence (%) of exposure to at least one antihypertensive drugs by year of cohort entry.



Figure 6. Prevalence (%) of exposure to antihypertensive drugs: number of drugs used simultaneously, by year of cohort entry.



36

4.3 Outcomes.

4.3.1 Acute renal failure.

A total of 4585 individuals (17.5%) were diagnosed with acute renal failure. Only one individual had acute renal failure coded as the principal diagnosis; all others had ARF coded as a secondary diagnosis. There was a marked increase in the incidence of acute renal failure during the study: the number of cases increasing from 275 in 1997 to 942 in 2004 (figure 7). Of the acute renal failure cases, approximately one third (1633/4585) had pre-existing chronic renal failure and this proportion remained constant throughout the study period (figure 8).

Figure 7. Incidence (%) of acute renal failure in cohort members, by year of cohort entry.



Figure 8. Number of individuals with acute renal failure (ARF), by year of cohort entry, with and without prior chronic renal failure (CRF).



Table 6 compares baseline characteristics, comorbidities and in-hospital mortality of individuals with and without acute renal failure. All the comorbidities under study were more frequent in individuals developing acute renal failure. Acute renal failure was associated with an increased length of stay (median 18 days with ARF compared to 12 days without ARF) and with higher in-hospital mortality (47% with ARF compared to 26% without ARF).

| | Without ARF ¹ (n = 21245) | With ARF (n = 4585) |
|---|---|------------------------|
| Baseline characteristics (%) | | |
| Age (years) (median, IQR) | 77 (71-83) | 77 (72-83) |
| Male gender | 10 608 (49.9) | 2518 (54.9) |
| Sepsis is a secondary diagnosis | 15 963 (75.1) | 3549 (77.4) |
| Baseline comorbidities (%) | | |
| Hypertension | 8457 (39.8) | 2147 (46.8) |
| Diabetes | 5350 (25.2) | 1444 (31.5) |
| Coronary disease | 6808 (32.1) | 1943 (42.4) |
| Chronic heart failure | 3607 (17.0) | 1394 (30.4) |
| Chronic renal failure | 2880 (13.6) | 1633 (35.6) |
| Peripheral arterial disease | 4338 (20.4) | 1156 (25.2) |
| Chronic liver disease | 876 (4.1) | 297 (6.5) |
| Outcomes (%) | | |
| Hospitalization duration(days), median (IQR) | 12 (6-27) | 18 (8-37) |
| Shock | 1748 (8.2) | 1095 (23.9) |
| In-hospital mortality | 5506 (25.9) | 2146 (46.8) |

Table 6 Comparison of subgroups with and withoutacute renal failure.

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure.

4.3.2 Renal replacement therapy.

Figure 9 represents the yearly numbers of individuals diagnosed with acute renal failure and the numbers treated with renal replacement therapy. Although there was an increase in the yearly numbers treated with renal replacement therapy (from 60 to 104), this was less important than the increase in ARF diagnosis, so that the proportion of those with ARF who received renal replacement therapy decreased from 22% to 11% (figure 10).





Figure 10. Percentage of acute renal failure cases (ARF) who received renal replacement therapy (RRT) by year of cohort entry.



Among individuals with ARF treated with renal replacement therapy, important differences existed between those who had pre-existing chronic renal failure and those who did not. Table 7 summarizes these differences: individuals with chronic renal failure were older, and had a greater burden of chronic comorbidities (hypertension, diabetes, coronary disease, chronic heart failure, peripheral arterial disease). Despite this, the severity of sepsis seems to have been lower in the group with prior chronic renal failure, as evidenced by a lower incidence of shock (24% vs. 44%), a lower number of non-renal organ dysfunctions (mean 1.04 vs 1.65) and a lower in-hospital mortality rate (48% vs 65%), as compared to the subgroup without CRF.

41

| | With CRF ¹ n = 292 n (%) | Without CRF n = 316 n (%) |
|--|---|---------------------------------|
| Baseline characteristics | | |
| Age (years)(median, IQR) | 74 (69-79) | 72 (68-77) |
| Male gender | 177 (60.6%) | 179 (56.6%) |
| Sepsis is a secondary diagnosis. | 257 (88.0%) | 282 (89.2%) |
| Baseline comorbidities | | |
| Hypertension | 192 (65.7%) | 104 (32.9%) |
| Diabetes | 124 (42.5%) | 84 (26.5%) |
| Coronary disease | 155 (53.1%) | 130 (41.1%) |
| Chronic heart failure | 121 (41.4%) | 82 (25.9%) |
| Peripheral arterial disease | 115 (39.4%) | 77 (24.4%) |
| Chronic liver disease | 8 (2.7%) | 21 (6.6%) |
| Outcomes | | |
| Mean number of non-renal organ dysfunctions (95% C.I.) | 1.04 (0.91-1.16) | 1.65 (1.52-1.77) |
| Shock | 70 (24.0%) | 139 (44.0%) |
| Hospitalization duration (days), median (IQR) | 32 (18-62.5) | 30 (16-55) |
| In-hospital mortality | 140 (47.9%) | 270 (65.5%) |

Table 7.Individuals treated with renal replacement therapy: comparison of subgroupswith and without chronic renal failure.

¹CRF: Chronic renal failure

4.4 Risk assessment.

4.4.1 Risks associated with baseline characteristics and comorbidities.

Risk of acute renal failure.

Table 8 details the risk estimates for acute renal failure associated with baseline characteristics and baseline comorbidities, both in univariate analysis and with multivariate logistic regression (model A).

There is an important increase in the risk of ARF with each passing year of the 1999-2004 period, which corresponds to the important annual increase in ARF incidence previously noted (adjusted O.R. 3.51 per 10 year increase).

There is no sign of increased risk for acute renal failure with advancing age, in either univariate analysis or multivariate analysis. The two older subgroups' risks of acute renal failure are comparable to the younger group's risk.

Male gender is associated with a slightly higher risk of ARF (adjusted O.R. 1.19).

Sepsis as a secondary, rather than a primary diagnosis, is also associated with a slightly higher risk (adjusted O.R. 1.12).

In univariate analysis, all the comorbidities included in model A are associated with an increased risk of ARF, the association being the strongest for chronic renal failure and chronic heart failure. In multivariate analysis, chronic renal failure and chronic heart failure remain the most significant risk factors for ARF, with slightly lower odds ratios. The risk association with chronic liver disease is unchanged. The adjusted odds ratios associated with diabetes, coronary disease and peripheral arterial disease are lower and vary between 1.03 and 1.13. The most important change in risk estimates occurs with hypertension, which is associated with an *increased* risk of ARF in univariate analysis (crude OR 1.33), but with a *lower* risk in the multivariate analysis (adjusted OR 0.91) (table 8).

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Crude – | eAdjusted | |
|---|--------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-----------|
| | (n = 21245) n (%) | (n = 4585) n (%) | 0.R. | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Baseline characteristics. | | | | | |
| Admission year, median | 2001 | 2002 | 4.17 ² | 3.51 ² | 3.00-4.10 |
| Age 65 to 74 years | 8243 (38.8) | 1698 (37.0) | R | eference | e group |
| Age 75 to 84 years | 8901 (41.9) | 2022 (44.1) | 1.10 | 1.00 | 0.93-1.08 |
| Age ≥ 85 years | 4101 (19.3) | 865 (18.9) | 1.02 | 0.89 | 0.81-0.98 |
| Male gender | 10608 (49.9) | 2518 (54.9) | 1.22 | 1.19 | 1.11-1.28 |
| Sepsis is a secondary diagnosis Baseline comorbidities | 15963 (75.1) | 3549 (77.4) | 1.13 | 1.12 | 1.04-1.22 |
| Diabetes | 5350 (25.2) | 1444 (31.5) | 1.37 | 1.13 | 1.04-1.22 |
| Coronary disease | 6808 (32.1) | 1943 (42.4) | 1.56 | 1.12 | 1.05-1.21 |
| Heart failure | 3607 (17.0) | 1394 (30.4) | 2.14 | 1.75 | 1.61-1.90 |
| Chronic renal failure | 2880 (13.6) | 1633 (35.6) | 3.53 | 2.99 | 2.76-3.23 |
| Peripheral arterial disease | 4338 (20.4) | 1156 (25.2) | 1.31 | 1.03 | 0.96-1.11 |
| Chronic liver disease | 876 (4.1) | 297 (6.5) | 1.61 | 1.53 | 1.41-1.89 |

Table 8.Risk of acute renal failure associated with baseline characteristics and
comorbidities (Model A). Entire cohort (N = 25 830).

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure.

² Per 10 year increase in admission date.

Risk of renal replacement therapy.

Table 9 details the risk estimates for renal replacement therapy associated with baseline characteristics and baseline comorbidities, both in univariate analysis and with multivariate logistic regression (model A).

There is possibly an increased risk of renal replacement therapy with entry in the cohort in the later part of the study period. The adjusted odds ratio is 1.21 per 10 year increase in admission date, but the 95% CI includes 1.0 (null effect).

There is a strongly decreasing risk of renal replacement therapy with advancing age: only 24 out of 4966 individuals with ARF aged over 85 received RRT (3.9%). - resulting in an adjusted odds ratio of 0.10. This is likely to reflect differences in therapeutic approach (rather than differences in severity of ARF), since individuals with ARF aged 85 or more had higher in-hospital mortality than younger individuals, whether renal replacement therapy was used or not (mortality 67% vs. 57%, and 53% vs. 43% respectively), suggesting that, for a comparable severity of acute renal failure, older individuals were less likely to receive renal replacement therapy (table 10).

A secondary diagnosis of sepsis is clearly associated with an increased risk of renal replacement therapy, with an adjusted odds ratio of 2.43.

In univariate analysis, all the comorbidities are associated with an increased risk of renal replacement therapy. Multivariate analysis (model A) results are very similar to those obtained when the outcome is acute renal failure. Chronic renal failure is by far the most important risk factor for renal replacement therapy. Chronic heart failure, coronary disease and peripheral arterial disease are also associated with an increased risk of renal replacement therapy, but diabetes, chronic liver disease and hypertension are not (table 9).

| | | RRT (n= 608) n (%) | No RRT ¹ RRT (Constant) Crudy | Crude_ | Ad | justed |
|---------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|---|-------------------|-----------|--------|
| | (n= 25222) n (%) | | 0.R. | O.R | 95% C.I. | |
| Baseline characterist | tics. | | | | | |
| Admission year, median | 2001 | 2001 | 1.45 ² | 1.21 ² | 0.83-1.76 | |
| Age 65 to 74 years | 9592 (38.0) | 359 (59.1) | Re | eference | group | |
| Age 75 to 84 years | 10698 (42.4) | 225 (37.0) | 0.56 | 0.47 | 0.39-0.56 | |
| Age ≥ 85 years | 4942 (19.6) | 24 (3.95) | 0.13 | 0.10 | 0.07-0.15 | |
| Male gender | 12770 (50.6) | 356 (58.5) | 1.38 | 1.13 | 0.95-1.34 | |
| Sepsis is a secondary diagnosis | 18973 (75.2) | 539 (88.7) | 2.57 | 2.43 | 1.89-3.16 | |
| Baseline comorbiditi | es | | | | | |
| Hypertension | 10308 (40.9) | 296 (48.7) | 1.37 | 0.82 | 0.68-0.99 | |
| Diabetes | 6586 (26.1) | 208 (34.2) | 1.47 | 0.86 | 0.71-1.03 | |
| Coronary disease | 8466 (33.6) | 285 (46.9) | 1.75 | 1.20 | 1.00-1.44 | |
| Heart failure | 4798 (19.0) | 203 (33.4) | 2.13 | 1.49 | 1.23-1.82 | |
| Chronic renal failure | 4221 (16.7) | 292 (48.0) | 4.60 | 4.19 | 3.49-5.03 | |
| Peripheral arterial disease | 5302 (21.0) | 192 (31.6) | 1.73 | 1.34 | 1.11-1.61 | |
| Chronic liver disease | 1144 (4.5) | 29 (4.8) | 1.05 | 0.94 | 0.63-1.39 | |

Table 9. Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with baseline characteristics and comorbidities (Model A). Entire cohort (N = 25 830).

¹ RRT: Renal replacement therapy ² Per 10 year increase in admission date.

Table 10.In-hospital mortality by age group according to acute renal failure (ARF) / renalreplacement therapy (RRT) status, stratified by age group.

| | ARF(-) ¹ | ARF(+) / RRT(-) ² | ARF(+) / RRT(+) ³ |
|----------------|---------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Age category | | | |
| 65 to 74 years | 1822/8243 (22.1) | 535/1339 (40.0) | 193/359 (53.8) |
| 75 to 84 years | 2213/8901 (26.0) | 817/1797 (45.5) | 138/225 (61.3) |
| ≥ 85 years | 1371/4101 (33.4) | 447/841 (53.1) | 16/24 (66.7) |

¹ ARF (-) : Absence of acute renal failure.

² ARF (+)/ RRT (-): Acute renal failure, did not receive renal replacement therapy

³ ARF (+)/ RRT (+): Acute renal failure, received renal replacement therapy.

4.4.2 Risks associated with exposure to antihypertensive drugs, by category.

Risk of acute renal failure.

Table 11 summarizes the risk of acute renal failure associated with exposure to antihypertensive drug categories in the entire cohort. With univariate analysis, all categories of antihypertensive drugs are associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure, but major changes in the risk estimates occur when multivariate logistic regression is used (model A). The following drug categories are still associated with an increased risk: thiazide diuretics (adjusted OR 1.29), ACEIs (adjusted OR 1.17), ARBs (adjusted OR 1.25), but there is a *neutral* effect of exposure for loop diuretics, beta blockers and calcium channel blockers. The impact of multivariate analysis is most notable for loop diuretics: the odds ratios for this drug category decrease from 1.62 (unadjusted) to 1.06 (adjusted).

Risk of acute renal failure: stratification for chronic heart failure.

Table 12 summarizes the risk estimates (model A) for acute renal failure in subgroups stratified for chronic heart failure. In the subgroup *without* heart failure, exposure to thiazides, ACEIs or ARBs is associated with a higher risk of ARF. In the subgroup *with* chronic heart failure, only thiazides and ARBs are associated with an increased risk.

Risk of acute renal failure: stratification for chronic renal failure.

Table 13 summarizes the risk estimates (model A) for acute renal failure in subgroups stratified for chronic renal failure. In the subgroup *without* chronic renal failure, exposures to thiazides, ACEIs or ARBs are associated with a higher risk of ARF. In the subgroup *with* chronic renal failure, there is no increase in risk with exposure to any anti-hypertensive drug category.

Table 11.Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug categories
(model A). Entire cohort ($N = 25\ 830$).

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Crude | Adjusted | |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------|-------|----------|-----------|
| | (n= 21245) n (%) | (n= 4585) n (%) | 0.R. | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | | |
| Thiazides | 2903 (13.7) | 797 (17.4) | 1.33 | 1.29 | 1.16-1.43 |
| Loop diuretics | 4380 (20.6) | 1355 (29.6) | 1.62 | 1.06 | 0.97-1.16 |
| ACE inhibitors | 4490 (21.1) | 1296 (28.3) | 1.47 | 1.17 | 1.08-1.27 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1421 (6.7) | 484 (10.6) | 1.65 | 1.25 | 1.10-1.41 |
| Beta blockers | 2376 (11.2) | 615 (13.4) | 1.23 | 0.98 | 0.89-1.09 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 4996 (23.5) | 1271 (27.7) | 1.25 | 0.98 | 0.91-1.06 |

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure.

Table 12.Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug categories
(model A). Stratification for chronic heart failure.

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Ad | Adjusted | | |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|------|-------------|--|--|
| | (N = 17638) n (%) | (N = 3191) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. | | |
| Drug category | | | | | | |
| Thiazides | 2590 (14.3) | 601 (18.8) | 1.27 | (1.12-1.43) | | |
| Loop diuretics | 2767 (15.7) | 666 (20.9) | 1.09 | (0.97-1.21) | | |
| ACE inhibitors | 3272 (18.5) | 796 (24.9) | 1.25 | (1.13-1.36) | | |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1135 (6.4) | 308 (9.7) | 1.21 | (1.05-1.41) | | |
| Beta blockers | 1909 (10.8) | 390 (12.2) | 0.94 | (0.83-1.06) | | |
| Calcium channel blockers | 3997 (22.7) | 829 (26.0) | 0.96 | (0.88-1.06) | | |

Subgroup without chronic heart failure N= 20829

Subgroup with chronic heart failure N= 5001.

| | Without ARF | With ARF | Adjusted | |
|----------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N = 3607) n (%) | (N = 1394) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 384 (10.7) | 196 (14.1) | 1.34 | 1.09-1.65 |
| Loop diuretics | 1613 (44.7) | 689 (49.4) | 1.03 | 0.88-1.19 |
| ACE inhibitors | 1218 (33.8) | 500 (35.9) | 1.04 | 0.90-1.21 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 286 (7.9) | 176 (12.6) | 1.33 | 1.06-1.66 |
| Beta blockers | 467 (12.9) | 225 (16.1) | 1.10 | 0.92-1.32 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 999 (27.7) | 442 (31.7) | 1.01 | 0.87-1.17 |

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure

Table 13.Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug categories
(model A). Stratification for chronic renal failure

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Adjusted | |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N = 18365) n (%) | (N = 2952) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 2472 (13.5) | 516 (17.5) | 1.33 | 1.17-1.15 |
| Loop diuretics | 3260 (17.7) | 693 (23.5) | 1.13 | 1.01-1.25 |
| ACE inhibitors | 3633 (19.8) | 765 (25.9) | 1.21 | 1.09-1.34 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1135 (6.18) | 276 (9.35) | 1.30 | 1.12-1.51 |
| Beta blockers | 1966 (1.7) | 364 (12.3) | 0.98 | 0.86-1.11 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 4023 (21.9) | 693 (23.5) | 0.97 | 0.88-1.07 |

Subgroup without chronic renal failure N= 21317.

Subgroup with chronic renal failure N= 4513.

| | Without ARF | With ARF (N = 1633) n (%) | Adjusted | |
|-------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N = 2880) n (%) | | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 431 (14.9) | 281 (17.2) | 1.18 | 0.98-1.42 |
| Loop diuretics | 1120 (38.9) | 662 (40.5) | 0.95 | 0.82-1.10 |
| ACE inhibitors | 857 (29.8) | 531 (32.5) | 1.09 | 0.95-1.27 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 286 (9.9) | 208 (12.7) | 1.18 | 0.96-1.46 |
| Beta blockers | 410 (14.3) | 251 (15.4) | 0.98 | 0.82-1.17 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 973 (33.8) | 578 (35.4) | 1.00 | 0.87-1.15 |

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure

Risk of acute renal failure: stratification for primary or secondary diagnosis of sepsis.

Table 14 summarizes the risk estimates (model A) for acute renal failure in subgroups stratified for a primary or a secondary diagnosis of sepsis. In both subgroups, exposure to ACEIs and ARBs is associated with a significant risk of acute renal failure. For thiazide diuretics, the risk is increased only in the subgroup with a secondary diagnosis of sepsis. Other antihypertensive drug categories are not associated with an increased risk in either group.

Risk of renal replacement therapy.

Table 15 summarizes the risk estimates (model A) for renal replacement therapy with multivariate logistic regression applied to the entire cohort. In this analysis, loop diuretics, beta blockers and calcium channel blockers are associated with an increased risk, while thiazides, ACEIs and ARBs are not (which is exactly opposite to the results obtained in the analyses of ARF risk detailed previously). However, if the cohort is stratified for chronic renal failure, major changes in the risk estimates occur, demonstrating important effect measure modification, and in the subgroup without chronic renal failure the drug categories associated with an increased risk of ARF also increase the risk of renal replacement therapy.

Table 16 summarizes the risk estimates (model A) for exposure to drug categories when the cohort is stratified according for chronic renal failure. In the subgroup *without* chronic renal failure, thiazides, ACEIs, ARBs, loop diuretics and beta-blockers are all associated with a higher risk of renal replacement therapy, and only calcium channel blockers are not. On the contrary, in the subgroup *with* chronic renal failure, only loop diuretics and calcium channel blockers are associated with a significantly increased risk of renal replacement therapy. This suggests that there is important residual confounding, or effect modification, within the chronic renal failure subgroup.

Table 14.

Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug categories (model A). Stratification for primary or secondary diagnosis of sepsis.

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Adjusted | |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N = 5282) n (%) | (N = 1036) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 735 (13.9) | 161 (15.5) | 1.07 | 0.86-1.33 |
| Loop diuretics | 1180 (22.3) | 302 (29.1) | 0.93 | 0.78-1.12 |
| ACE inhibitors | 1134 (21.4) | 295 (28.5) | 1.26 | 1.06-1.50 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 351 (6.7) | 114 (11.0) | 1.42 | 1.10-1.83 |
| Beta blockers | 578 (10.9) | 145 (14.0) | 1.11 | 0.90-1.37 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 1249 (23.7) | 238 (23.0) | 0.73 | 0.62-0.88 |

Subgroup with a primary diagnosis of sepsis N= 6318.

Subgroup with a secondary diagnosis of sepsis N= 19 512.

| | Without ARF | With ARF | Adjusted | |
|----------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N = 5282) n (%) | (N = 1036) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 2168 (13.6) | 636 (17.9) | 1.36 | 1.21-1.53 |
| Loop diuretics | 3200 (20.1) | 1053 (29.7) | 1.11 | 1.00-1.23 |
| ACE inhibitors | 3356 (21.0) | 1001 (28.2) | 1.15 | 1.04-1.27 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1070 (6.7) | 370 (10.4) | 1.21 | 1.05-1.39 |
| Beta blockers | 1798 (11.3) | 470 (13.3) | 0.94 | 0.84-1.06 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 3747 (23.5) | 1033 (29.1) | 1.06 | 0.97-1.16 |

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure

Table 15.

| | No RRT^1 | RRT | Crude | Ac | ljusted |
|-------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|-------|------|-------------|
| | (n = 25222) n (%) | (n = 608) n (%) | 0.R. | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | | |
| Thiazides | 3601 (14.3) | 99 (16.3) | 1.17 | 1.18 | (0.92-1.51) |
| Loop diuretics | 5507 (21.8) | 228 (37.5) | 2.15 | 1.44 | (1.17-1.77) |
| ACE inhibitors | 5595 (22.2) | 191 (31.4) | 1.61 | 1.13 | (0.93-1.38) |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1833 (7.3) | 72 (11.8) | 1.71 | 1.22 | (0.92-1.62) |
| Beta blockers | 2883 (11.4) | 108 (17.8) | 1.67 | 1.25 | (1.00-1.57) |
| Calcium channel blockers | 6041 (23.9) | 226 (37.2) | 1.88 | 1.33 | (1.10-1.61) |

Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with antihypertensive drug categories (model A). Entire cohort (N = 25 830).

¹ RRT: Renal replacement therapy

Table 16.

Risk of renal replacement therapy - associated with antihypertensive drug categories (model A). Stratification for chronic renal failure.

| | No RRT ¹ | RRT | Adjusted | |
|-------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N= 21 001) n (%) | (N = 316) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 2929 (13.9) | 59 (18.7) | 1.50 | 1.08-2.09 |
| Loop diuretics | 3870 (18.4) | 83 (26.3) | 1.41 | 1.05-2.09 |
| ACE inhibitors | 4301 (20.5) | 97 (30.7) | 1.48 | 1.12-1.95 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 1379 (6.6) | 32 (10.1) | 1.42 | 0.95-2.14 |
| Beta blockers | 2277 (10.8) | 53 (16.8) | 1.35 | 0.99-1.84 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 4639 (22.1) | 77 (24.3) | 0.97 | 0.74-1.29 |

Subgroup without chronic renal failure N= 21317.

Subgroup with chronic renal failure N= 4513.

| | No RRT | RRT | Adjusted | |
|-------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|----------|-----------|
| | (N = 4221) n (%) | (N = 292) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Drug category | | | | |
| Thiazides | 672 (15.9) | 40 (13.7) | 0.85 | 0.58-1.24 |
| Loop diuretics | 1637 (38.8) | 145 (49.7) | 1.36 | 1.03-1.81 |
| ACE inhibitors | 1294 (30.7) | 94 (32.2) | 0.92 | 0.69-1.22 |
| Angiotensin receptor blockers | 454 (10.8) | 40 (13.7) | 1.15 | 0.78-1.71 |
| Beta blockers | 606 (14.4) | 55 (18.9) | 1.13 | 0.81-1.56 |
| Calcium channel blockers | 1402 (33.2) | 149 (51.0) | 1.74 | 1.34-2.27 |

¹RRT: Renal replacement therapy

4.4.3 Risk associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy.

Risk of acute renal failure.

Table 17 summarizes the risks of acute renal failure associated with exposure to monotherapy or polytherapy in the entire cohort. In univariate analysis, a progressively higher risk of ARF is noted as the number of drugs used increases. This is also present with multivariate analysis (model B), but the risk association is not as strong.

Table 17.Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy
(model B). Entire cohort (N = 25830).

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Crude | A | djusted |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|-------|-----------------|-----------|
| | (n = 21245) n (%) | (n = 4585) n (%) | 0.R. | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | | |
| No drug | 9320 (43.9) | 1593 (34.7) | | Reference group | |
| One drug | 4520 (21.3) | 851 (18.6) | 1.10 | 1.01 | 0.92-1.11 |
| Two drugs | 4222 (19.9) | 1056 (23.0) | 1.46 | 1.15 | 1.05-1.26 |
| > Two drugs | 3183 (15.0) | 1085 (23.7) | 1.99 | 1.29 | 1.17-1.43 |

¹ ARF: Acute renal failure

Risk of acute renal failure: stratification for chronic heart failure.

Table 18 summarizes the risk estimates (model B) for acute renal failure in subgroups stratified for chronic heart failure In both subgroups, exposure to a greater number of drugs is associated with a greater risk of ARF, suggesting an effect of cumulative exposure.

Risk of acute renal failure: stratification for chronic renal failure.

Table 19 summarizes the risk estimates (model B) for acute renal failure in subgroups stratified for chronic renal failure. In the subgroup *without* chronic renal failure, exposure to a greater number of drugs is associated with a greater risk of ARF. In the subgroup with chronic renal failure, the odds ratios are not significantly increased, suggesting that polytherapy is not a significant risk factor.

Risk of acute renal failure: all stratification for primary or secondary diagnosis of sepsis.

Table 20 summarizes the risk estimates (model B) for acute renal failure in subgroups stratified by a primary or a secondary discharge diagnosis of sepsis. In the subgroup with a primary diagnosis of sepsis, there is no increase in risk of ARF with exposure to a greater number of antihypertensive drugs. In the subgroup with sepsis as a secondary diagnosis however, the increase in risk is detectable.

Table 18.Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug
polytherapy(model B). Stratification for chronic heart failure.

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Α | djusted |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|-----------------|-----------|
| | (N = 17 638) n (%) | (N = 3191) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 8265 (46.9) | 1249 (39.1) | Reference group | |
| One drug | 3857 (21.9) | 639 (20.0) | 1.02 | 0.91-1.13 |
| Two drugs | 3246 (18.4) | 685 (21.5) | 1.18 | 1.06-1.32 |
| > Two drugs | 2270 (12.9) | 618 (19.4) | 1.32 | 1.17-1.49 |

Subgroup without chronic heart failure N= 20829

Subgroup with chronic heart failure N= 5001.

| | Without ARF ² | With ARF | Α | djusted |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|-------|------------|
| | (N = 3607) n (%) | (N = 1394) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 1055 (29.3) | 344 (24.7) | Refer | ence group |
| One drug | 663 (18.4) | 212 (15.2) | 0.95 | 0.77-1.16 |
| Two drugs | 976 (27.1) | 371 (26.6) | 1.05 | 0.88-1.25 |
| > Two drugs | 913 (25.3) | 467 (33.5) | 1.20 | 1.01-1.43 |

¹ARF: Acute renal failure

²ARF: Acute renal failure

Table 19.

Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy(model B). Stratification for chronic renal failure.

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Α | djusted |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|------|-------------|
| | (N = 18365) n (%) | (N = 2952) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 8503 (46.3) | 1183 (40.1) | Refe | rence group |
| One drug | 3991 (21.7) | 555 (18.8) | 0.96 | 0.86-1.08 |
| Two drugs | 3499 (19.1) | 647 (21.9) | 1.17 | 1.05-1.31 |
| > Two drugs | 2372 (12.9) | 567 (19.2) | 1.41 | 1.25-1.59 |

Subgroup without chronic renal failure N= 21317.

Subgroup with chronic renal failure N= 4513.

| | Without ARF | With ARF (N = 1633) n (%) | Adjusted | |
|------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------|-----------|
| | (N = 2880) n (%) | | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 817 (20.4) | 410 (25.1) | Reference group | |
| One drug | 529 (18.4) | 296 (18.1) | 1.01 | 0.91-1.33 |
| Two drugs | 723 (25.1) | 409 (25.1) | 1.07 | 0.89-1.27 |
| > Two drugs | 811 (22) | 518 (31.7) | 1.11 | 0.93-1.32 |

¹ARF: Acute renal failure

Table 20.

Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy (model B). Stratification for primary or secondary diagnosis of sepsis.

| | Without ARF ¹ | With ARF | Adjusted | |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|-----------------|-------------|
| | (N = 5282) n (%) | (N = 1036) n (%) | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 2270 (43.0) | 374 (36.1) | Reference group | |
| One drug | 1133 (21.5) | 202 (19.5) | 1.01 | (0.83-1.22) |
| Two drugs | 1048 (19.8) | 228 (22.0) | 1.03 | (0.85-1.25) |
| > Two drugs | 831 (15.7) | 232 (22.4) | 1.09 | (0.89-1.34) |

Subgroup with a primary diagnosis of sepsis N= 6318.

Subgroup with a secondary diagnosis of sepsis N= 19 512.

| | Without ARF ¹ | out ARF ¹ With ARF 15 963) (N = 3549) (%) n (%) | Adjusted | |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|--|-----------------|-----------|
| | (N= 15 963) n (%) | | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 7050 (44.2) | 1219 (34.3) | Reference group | |
| One drug | 3387 (21.2) | 649 (18.3) | 1.01 | 0.91-1.13 |
| Two drugs | 3174 (19.9) | 828 (23.3) | 1.19 | 1.07-1.33 |
| > Two drugs | 2352 (14.7) | 853 (24.0) | 1.36 | 1.21-1.52 |

¹ARF: Acute renal failure
Risk of renal replacement therapy.

Table 21 summarizes the risk estimates (model B) for renal replacement therapy resulting from multivariate logistic regression applied to the entire cohort: exposure to a greater number of drugs increases the risk of renal replacement therapy .

Table 21.Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with antihypertensive drug
polytherapy (model B).Entire cohort (N = 25 830).

| | No RRT ¹ | RRT | Crude | Adjusted | |
|------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|-------|-----------|-----------|
| | (n=25 222) n (%) | (n= 608) n (%) | 0.R. | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | | |
| No drug | 10751 (42.6) | 162 (26.6) | | Reference | group |
| One drug | 5258 (20.9) | 113 (18.6) | 1.43 | 1.37 | 1.07-1.76 |
| Two drugs | 5129 (20.3) | 149 (24.5) | 1.93 | 1.62 | 1.27-2.06 |
| > Two drugs | 4084 (16.2) | 184 (30.3) | 2.99 | 1.96 | 1.54-2.49 |

¹RRT: Renal replacement therapy

Risk of renal replacement therapy: stratification for chronic renal failure. Table 22 summarizes the risk estimates (model B) for renal replacement therapy in subgroups stratified by the diagnosis of chronic renal failure. In both subgroups, exposure to a greater number of drugs increases the risk of renal replacement therapy.

Table 22.

Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy (model B).Stratification for chronic renal failure.

| | No RRT ¹ (N= 21001) n (%) | RRT (N= 316) n (%) | Adjusted | |
|------------------------------|--|--------------------------|----------|-------------|
| | | | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 9576 (45.6) | 106 (34.2) | Refer | rence group |
| One drug | 4484 (21.3) | 62 (19.6) | 1.35 | 0.98-1.86 |
| Two drugs | 4067 (19.4) | 79 (25.0) | 1.83 | 1.34-2.49 |
| > Two drugs | 2872 (13.7) | 67 (21.2) | 2.05 | 1.47-2.87 |

Subgroup without chronic renal failure N= 21317.

Subgroup with chronic renal failure N= 4513.

| | No RRT ¹ (N= 4221) n (%) | RRT (N= 292) n (%) | Adjusted | |
|------------------------------|---|--------------------------|----------|-------------|
| | | | O.R | 95% C.I. |
| Number of drugs delivered | | | | |
| No drug | 1173 (27.8) | 54 (18.5) | Refe | rence group |
| One drug | 774 (18.4) | 51 (17.5) | 1.37 | 0.92-2.05 |
| Two drugs | 1062 (25.2) | 70 (24.0) | 1.36 | 0.93-1.98 |
| > Two drugs | 1212 (28.7) | 117 (40.1) | 1.85 | 1.29-2.64 |

¹RRT: Renal replacement therapy

Chapter 5. Discussion.

5.1 Summary of study results.

In this retrospective observational study of a cohort of elderly individuals hospitalized with sepsis, multivariate logistic regression was used to estimate the risks of acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy associated with exposure to various antihypertensive drug categories. Six major drug categories were evaluated: thiazide diuretics, loop diuretics, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, beta blockers and calcium channel blockers. Multivariate logistic regression was also used to evaluate the risk of acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy associated with exposure to antihypertensive drug polytherapy.

Potential confounders included in the multivariate analysis were: year of entry in the cohort, demographic characteristics, primary or secondary diagnosis of sepsis and baseline comorbidities known to increase the risk of acute renal failure.

Risk acute renal failure associated with baseline characteristics and comorbidities.

The following risk factors are associated with an important increase in ARF risk on multivariate analysis: year of admission, chronic heart failure, chronic renal failure and chronic liver disease.

Other risk factors are also associated with an increased ARF risk: male gender, secondary diagnosis of sepsis, coronary disease and diabetes, but the associations are not as strong (adjusted odds ratios < 1.2).

The presence of peripheral arterial disease does not modify the risk of ARF.

For chronic hypertension, there is an important difference between the results of univariate and multivariate analysis. In univariate analysis, the crude odds ratio (1.33) suggests a higher risk of ARF, but in multivariate analysis, the adjusted odds ratio (0.91) suggests a lower risk.

Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with baseline characteristics and comorbidities.

The increase in risk for renal replacement therapy is similar to the increase in the risk of acute renal failure for the following risk factors: year of admission, male gender, secondary diagnosis of sepsis, chronic heart failure, chronic renal failure, and coronary disease. However, because of the smaller size of the renal replacement therapy group, the risk estimates are less precise and are not statistically different from the null for male gender and secondary diagnosis of sepsis.

For diabetes and peripheral arterial disease the risk associations for renal replacement therapy differ from the associations with acute renal failure: for diabetes, there is no detectable increase in risk of renal replacement therapy, but there is an increase in risk with peripheral arterial disease.

The risk of undergoing renal replacement therapy strongly decreases with advancing age (adjusted odds ratio 0.10 for the oldest age group). This does not seem to reflect a less severe degree of acute renal failure or sepsis in older individuals, since the mortality associated with acute renal failure is significantly higher in the oldest age group, whether they have received renal replacement therapy or not (table 10).

The risk association between chronic hypertension and renal replacement therapy is similar to what is observed for acute renal failure: the crude odds ratio (1.37) suggests an increased risk with chronic hypertension, but the adjusted odds ratio (0.82) suggests the opposite, a «protective» effect of hypertension against RRT.

Risk of acute renal failure with exposure to antihypertensive drug categories.

<u>Thiazide diuretics, ACEIs and ARBs</u>: these three antihypertensive drug categories are associated with an increased risk of ARF. However, in the subgroup of individuals with chronic renal failure, the increase in risk is not detectable.

<u>Loop diuretics, beta blockers and calcium channel blockers</u> are not associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure after adjustment for the other model covariates.

Risk of renal replacement therapy with exposure to antihypertensive drug categories.

<u>Thiazide diuretics, ACEIs and ARBs</u>: these three antihypertensive drug categories are associated with an increased risk of both ARF and renal replacement therapy. However, when the analysis is restricted to the subgroup with chronic renal failure, an increase in risk is no longer detectable.

<u>Loop diuretics</u>: although they are not associated with an increased risk of ARF (adjusted O.R. 1.06), loop diuretics seem to increase the risk of renal replacement therapy (adjusted O.R. 1.44). This is an important discordance: renal replacement therapy is used to treat the most severe forms of ARF, and logic dictates that a drug exposure which increases the risk of severe ARF should also be a risk factor for less severe forms of ARF of the same etiology.

<u>Beta-blockers</u>: exposure to beta-blockers is not associated with a significant risk of renal replacement therapy.

<u>Calcium channel blockers:</u> even though they are not associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure, calcium channel blockers seem to increase the risk of renal replacement therapy. However, this increased risk of RRT seems to be present only in individuals with pre-existing chronic renal failure (adjusted odds ratio 1.74), while the risk is not increased in individuals without chronic renal failure (adjusted odds ratio 0.97).

Risk of acute renal failure associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy.

Simultaneous exposure to an increasing number of antihypertensive drugs is associated with a greater risk of acute renal failure. This is present in the entire cohort and also in the stratified subgroups, with the exception of the subgroup with chronic renal failure. This subgroup is the one in which an increased risk with exposure to individual drug categories cannot be demonstrated (section 5.13).

Risk of renal replacement therapy associated with antihypertensive drug polytherapy.

Simultaneous exposure to an increasing number of antihypertensive drugs is also associated with a greater risk of renal replacement therapy in the entire cohort, and after stratification for chronic renal failure. In the subgroup with chronic renal failure, drug polytherapy increases the risk of renal replacement therapy, but not the risk of acute renal failure. This discrepancy is similar to the discordant risk associations observed with loop diuretics for the entire cohort (section 5.14).

5.2 Biological and clinical plausibility of the results.

Risk of acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy associated with associated with baseline characteristics and comorbidities.

<u>Association with the year of admission:</u> there is a remarkable increase in the incidence of acute renal failure during the study period (figures 7, 8 and 9). This is likely to reflect a true increase in ARF incidence, which could be due to the observed increase in the prevalence of predisposing comorbidities. There is also a net increase in exposure to antihypertensive drugs during the same period, and if antihypertensive drug therapy truly increases the risk of ARF, this is likely to contribute to the increased ARF incidence.

However, the large increase in ARF incidence may also be due to increasing sensitivity of acute renal failure diagnosis in the MedEcho database during the study period. Studies of coding accuracy for acute renal failure in database registries have demonstrated variations in diagnostic coding sensitivity between registries, but also variations *within* registries between different time periods. Waikar et al. ¹⁰³ in a study of coding accuracy for acute renal failure in three Boston hospital registries, have reported a doubling in diagnostic sensitivity of ICD-9-CM registry coding during the 1994-2004 period (from 17% to 35%).

A similar increase in coding sensitivity may have occurred in this study as well: although there was a minor increase in the incidence of renal replacement therapy during the study period, this was much less important than the increase in acute renal failure (figure 9). The net decrease in the yearly proportion of ARF cases treated with renal replacement therapy (figure10) during the study period supports the hypothesis that diagnostic sensitivity of MedEcho database coding for milder cases of acute renal failure improved considerably during the study period.

A chart review of individual files from a subsample of the cohort would have allowed to test this hypothesis, but unfortunately chart review was not possible in the context of this database study.

Lack of association with increasing age: the lack of association of ARF risk with advancing age in this study is opposite to what has been reported in most studies of acute renal failure. The most likely explanation for this discrepancy is diagnostic bias due to selective underreporting of acute renal failure in older subjects. Serum creatinine concentration, the most frequently used marker of renal function, is inversely related to muscular mass. Muscular mass decreasing steadily with advancing age, for a comparable degree of renal failure, serum creatinine levels will not rise as much in an older individual compared to a younger one. Milder cases of acute renal failure may have been underreported in older individuals because smaller elevations in serum creatinine may not have been noticed by care providers.

In this study, increasing age is associated with a much lower probability of receiving renal replacement therapy. This is most likely because less «aggressive» therapeutic strategies were applied to the oldest members of the cohort. Despite the occurrence of severe, potentially life threatening renal dysfunction, it may be decided to abstain from renal replacement therapy in elderly individuals, because they refuse such life-sustaining interventions, or because age-related frailty, severe comorbidities and a very poor prognosis are considered to contraindicate this type of treatment.

<u>Association with male gender</u>: after adjusting for predisposing comorbidities, male gender is associated with an increased risk of acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy. This risk association must be interpreted cautiously, since there could be residual confounding due to a greater severity of predisposing comorbidities in men, and to a lower sensitivity of diagnostic coding for acute renal failure in women, related to their smaller muscular mass (discussed in sections 1.3 and 5.3.2). As noted in the literature review, previous studies of risk factors for acute renal failure have reported variable results as to the association between gender and ARF risk.

<u>Association with a secondary diagnosis of sepsis:</u> a secondary diagnosis of sepsis is associated with a greater risk of both ARF and renal replacement therapy. Since baseline characteristics in the two subgroups (primary/secondary diagnosis of sepsis) are similar, the risk association with a secondary diagnosis is probably due to a more difficult and complicated course of sepsis in the subgroup with a secondary diagnosis.

<u>Association with predisposing comorbidities</u>: the risk associations of chronic renal failure, heart failure, chronic liver disease, diabetes, coronary disease and peripheral arterial disease with either acute renal failure or renal replacement therapy are in agreement with previous studies. For chronic hypertension, the protective effect found in this study could be attributable to information bias: this will be discussed in the last section of this chapter.

Risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy associated with exposure to drug categories.

<u>Exposure to thiazide and to loop diuretics</u>: thiazide diuretics are associated with an increased risk of both ARF and renal replacement therapy, except in the subgroup with chronic renal failure. On the contrary, loop diuretics are not associated with a greater risk of ARF, but are associated with a greater risk of renal replacement therapy. These results are not in agreement with previous studies of ARF associated with diuretics, since in previous reports, loop diuretics were identified as increasing risk of ARF much more often than thiazide diuretics. Loop diuretics are known to be more potent diuretics than thiazides and, theoretically, should cause more severe hypovolemia than thiazides during sepsis, and thus be associated with a higher risk of sepsis-associated ARF.

Although these results could be due to confounding (addressed in the next section), distinct pharmacological properties of thiazides and loop diuretics could explain part of this discrepancy. Despite being weaker diuretics, thiazides are considered more efficacious than loop diuretics as antihypertensive agents ^{43,44}.

The following factors could explain the difference in risk associated with these two drug classes:

- 1. Thiazide drugs have longer elimination half-lifes than loop diuretics, leading to less fluctuation of their effect. In the hours following their administration, loop diuretics will provoke an intense diuresis, but this can be followed by a period of intense renal reabsorption of salt and water, during which diuresis will be low⁴⁴. This decreases the efficacy of loop diuretics, unless they are administered more than once a day. In the context of acute illness, the withdrawal of loop diuretics could be associated with a more rapid reversal of pharmacological effects than the withdrawal of thiazides.
- 2. The antihypertensive effects of thiazide diuretics may be independent of their diuretic properties: prolonged exposure to thiazide drugs results in a chronic reduction in systemic arterial resistance. The mechanisms of this vasodilatory effect of thiazides are not well understood, but it is known that it will persist for weeks, and even months, after withdrawal of the drug⁴⁴. Return of blood pressure to pre-treatment levels will be delayed as well. This sustained hypotensive effect could explain the negative impact of thiazide diuretics on renal function during sepsis.

In clinical practice, the dosage range for loop diuretics (for furosemide from 20 mg per day to 240 mg per day) is quite larger than the relatively restricted dosage range recommended for thiazide diuretics (for hydrochlorothiazide from 12.5 to 50 mg per day). Individuals may be at risk only when exposed to high doses of loop diuretics, which are typically used in the most severe forms of heart failure

and chronic renal failure. Most of the studies reporting renal impairment with loop diuretics are studies of in-hospital treatment of acute decompensated chronic heart failure (ADHF). In this setting, loop diuretics are frequently administered at high doses, by the intravenous route^{92,93}. Smaller doses of loop diuretics, taken by the oral route, may not have a significant impact on renal function during subsequent sepsis.

Exposure to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers: exposure to ACEIs and ARBs is associated with an increased risk of ARF and renal replacement therapy, except in the subgroup with pre-existing chronic renal failure. The finding of an association between exposure to of ACEIs or ARBs and sepsis-associated ARF is in agreement with current knowledge on the pharmacology of these agents. Laboratory studies, randomized clinical trials, and a large number of clinical reports have provided extensive evidence that selective antagonism of the renin-angiotensin II-aldosterone axis by these drugs can provoke acute renal impairment. The magnitude of this problem will vary depending on predisposing comorbidities, such as chronic heart failure and chronic renal failure, and on concurrent acute illnesses producing hypotension and/or hypovolemia^{40,81,82}. Considering the hypovolemia and hemodynamic instability characteristic of sepsis, the risk association is credible. The absence of exposure-associated risk in the subgroup with chronic renal failure is likely to result from confounding by contraindication and will be discussed in the last section of this chapter.

Exposure to beta-blockers. There is no sign of increased risk for either ARF or renal replacement therapy with exposure to beta-blockers. This finding is in accordance with current knowledge on the pharmacology of these agents. Despite many decades of widespread clinical use of beta-blockers, they have not been identified as a cause or a risk factor for acute renal failure.

<u>Risk association of exposure to calcium channel blockers and renal replacement</u> <u>therapy</u>. Like beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers have been extensively used for more than 30 years, and have not been associated with an increased risk of ARF. Their positive risk association in this study is limited to the increased risk of renal replacement therapy in the subgroup with chronic renal failure. This discordant result is more likely to result from confounding by contraindication (discussed in the last section of this chapter), than from a true increase in risk.

Risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy associated with exposure antihypertensive drug polytherapy.

The increase in risk of acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy with exposure to an increasing number of drugs categories is in conformity with expectations. Physiologic adjustment of blood flow to the kidneys involves many different regulation systems, and a great number of endogenous vasoactive agents. It is reasonable to assume that polytherapy with antihypertensive agents, by inhibiting compensatory responses at many steps in these regulatory cascades, would increase the risk of renal function impairment. As noted in the literature review, this has already been well documented for the association of ACEIs with ARBs. Among the subgroup with chronic renal failure, polytherapy is associated with an increased risk of renal replacement therapy, but not of ARF. This discrepancy remains unexplained.

5.3 Methodological issues.

5.3.1 Selection bias.

Selection bias occurs when the selection of individuals entering a study produces a study group that is skewed with respect to the base population, in regard to both exposures and outcomes.

One of the strengths of this study is the use of the MedEcho database, which ensures almost complete capture of elderly Québec residents hospitalized with sepsis during the study period. A small proportion of acutely infected elderly individuals may have been successfully treated on an outpatient basis, rather than in the hospital (for example, mild pneumonia, or urinary tract infection, can be treated with oral antibiotics on an outpatient basis). These individuals would be missing from the cohort. However, elderly patients selected for treatment on an outpatient basis are likely to experience mild sepsis and have few comorbidities, and should be at very low risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure. Their absence from the cohort is thus unlikely to cause significant bias. Since an age of 65 or older was required for entry in the cohort, our results may not be generalizable to younger age groups. However, since the elderly have both the highest prevalence of exposure to antihypertensive drugs and the highest incidence of sepsis, the study results remain relevant.

5.3.2 Information bias.

Information bias occurs when available information about study subjects is incomplete or incorrect, in regard to exposures and/or outcomes. When misclassification of exposure is independent of the outcome, and when misclassification of outcome is independent of exposure, bias is said to be nondifferential. If exposure misclassification is conditional on the outcome or if outcome misclassification is conditional on the exposure, bias is said to be differential.

For dichotomous outcomes and exposures, such as in this study, non-differential misclassification will bias the effect estimate towards the null, so the effect of exposure on the outcome will appear to be weaker or non-existent ¹⁰⁴. Differential misclassification of exposures or outcomes can produce bias in either direction, weakening a true risk association or creating the illusion of a risk association when, in fact, there is none.

5.3.2.1 Misclassification of outcomes.

Acute renal failure.

The limitations of large databases studies using ICD-9-CM coding discussed in the previous section are also relevant for the reporting of our study's main outcome, acute renal failure. A validation study by chart review ¹⁰³ discussed earlier, reported sensitivities ranging from 25% to 50%, and specificities greater than 98%, for ICD-9-CM coding of acute renal failure in three teaching hospitals located in Boston. A progressive increase in coding sensitivity was also reported, with average coding sensitivity increasing from 20% to approximately 40% during the 1994-2004 period. This increased sensitivity of coding is likely to affect our data as well and may be in part responsible for the observed increase in ARF in this study, which has been reported in other contemporary database studies^{28-30,105}.

Important variations in diagnostic criteria for acute renal failure is acknowledged to be a major problem in ARF epidemiology: one limitation of this study is that we did not have access to laboratory data, which would have allowed assessment of ARF severity, and would have improved diagnostic sensitivity. If ARF coding sensitivity increased greatly during the study period, this could lead to confounding of our estimates of drug-associated risk if drug exposure increased greatly during the same time period. This is the case for exposure to ARBs, which increased from 1% to 14%. Having included the year of admission as a covariate in our models should decrease this confounding effect.

The sensitivity of ICD-9-CM coding for acute renal failure is likely to be lowest in the oldest age groups, because of the decreased sensitivity of serum creatinine as a marker of renal function with advancing age (discussed previously). For agerelated risk, there is a high probability of differential misclassification bias, and the lack of association between age and acute renal failure risk in our study, which contrasts with the reports of previous ARF epidemiologic studies, is likely to be explained by this information bias. Similarly, the increased odds ratios associated with male gender could be biased from selective under-diagnosis of acute renal failure in women, related to their smaller muscular mass.

The etiologic attribution of acute renal failure to sepsis could be erroneous in some cases. Individuals with a prolonged hospital stay could have developed ARF from other causes (hemorrhagic or cardiogenic shock, contrast-agent nephrotoxicity, etc.) while they were not in acute sepsis. Since the databases used do not contain information on the respective time frames of sepsis and acute renal failure episodes, it is impossible to identify individuals for whom acute renal failure may have been unrelated to sepsis. However, such etiologic misclassification is unlikely to be related to outpatient drug exposure, and thus should not be the source of significant bias.

Renal replacement therapy.

The RAMQ physician fee claim database should have excellent sensitivity for the provision of renal replacement therapy, since this type of treatment is, in Québec, universally covered by the state health care plan. Since renal replacement therapy is a complex procedure, requiring diligent physician supervision, it is very unlikely that physicians providing renal replacement therapy would neglect claiming fees for this type of therapy. However, renal replacement therapy is an imperfect, biased marker of the occurrence of sepsis-associated acute renal failure for the two following reasons. First, renal replacement therapy is used only in the most severe forms of acute renal failure, when renal function has fallen below 15% of normal levels; so only the most severe cases of acute renal failure (approximately 10% of ARF cases in various studies) will be identified by the provision of renal replacement therapy. Second, despite the occurrence of severe, potentially life threatening renal dysfunction, renal replacement therapy may not be instituted in certain patients with incurable diseases, a very poor prognosis, or because advanced directives refusing life-sustaining interventions have been specified. Thus, an unknown proportion of severe ARF cases will not have been detected by the assessment of renal replacement therapy.

5.3.2.2 Misclassification of exposures.

Misclassification of drug exposures: Use of the RAMQ prescription claim database is one of the strengths of the study, as complete coverage of prescriptions delivered to Québec residents aged 65 years or more is ensured. However, the delivery of the prescription drug does not automatically guarantee drug consumption if there is inadequate compliance to treatment, or modification of drug treatment after drug delivery has been recorded. This is of particular relevance in this study, since the databases used do not contain information on in-hospital drug exposure. Outpatient drug delivery is likely to reflect drug exposure when the individual develops sepsis at home. On the opposite, prescriptions taken at home may not reflect drug exposure properly if sepsis occurs during a complicated hospital stay, after significant modifications of the drug treatment regimen have occurred. We have attempted to correct for this bias by stratifying the analysis according to a primary diagnosis or a secondary of sepsis, with the assumption that individuals with a primary diagnosis of sepsis were more likely to have developed sepsis at home, and that outpatient drug exposure data in this subgroup would be a more accurate reflection of drug exposures immediately before sepsis. In both subgroups, there is a positive association between exposure to ACEIs and ARBs, and subsequent acute renal failure or renal replacement therapy. These risk associations are stronger for the primary than for the secondary diagnosis subgroup, which could be due to some degree of exposure misclassification in the subgroup with a secondary diagnosis, but this does not invalidate the risk associations. Surprisingly, exposure to thiazide diuretics was a significant risk factor in the subgroup with a secondary, but not with a primary, diagnosis of sepsis. We have not found an explanation for this isolated discrepancy.

One limitation of this study is that the rationale for drug prescription cannot be verified. Most drug categories that we have studied have other indications that hypertension: diabetes, coronary disease, chronic heart failure, chronic renal failure etc. The drugs under study can be prescribed to treat hypertension and other comorbidities simultaneously, in accordance with current treatment

75

guidelines for hypertension. This study reports the risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure with exposure to antihypertensive drugs, but these drugs may have been prescribed for medical conditions *other than hypertension*. Nonetheless, given the high prevalence of exposure to the studied drugs in the elderly population, the study results remain relevant.

5.3.2.3 Misclassification of covariates.

While data on age and gender are highly reliable, database registries such as MedEcho are likely to be less accurate in the reporting of chronic diseases. The MedEcho database contains ICD-9-CM codes corresponding to the hospital discharge diagnoses entered by physicians and medical archivists. One principal diagnosis and up to 15 secondary diagnoses can be entered in the database. For chronic diseases, accurate reporting will depend on awareness of the condition and its perceived relevance to the acute illness episode. Comorbidities felt to be less relevant are less likely to be coded in the database. Chronic diseases such as hypertension are less likely to be entered after a critical illness, or when the issue is death ¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁹.

Various validation studies of ICD-9-CM coding in administrative databases have consistently shown a high specificity (> 90%) but a low sensitivity (25-75%) for chronic comorbidities. For prevalent diseases (> 10%), this will result in a high positive predictive value, but a low negative predictive value, and significant underreporting is a problem ^{108,110-114}.

For the comorbidities that we have studied, this type of selective information bias will tend to draw the effect estimate towards the null, since these chronic diseases are less likely to be coded when the course of sepsis is complicated by organ failure. Thus, the strong and consistent associations of chronic renal failure, chronic heart failure, and chronic liver disease with ARF and renal replacement therapy are very likely be valid.

Hypertension is one of the chronic diseases for which underreporting in databases using ICD-9-CM coding is the greatest, since it is highly prevalent, but

underdiagnosed, and unlikely to be a major problem during an acute episode of sepsis¹¹⁵. In our multivariate models, hypertension did not emerge as a risk factor for ARF or renal replacement therapy, and even appeared slightly protective (adjusted O.R.s 0.91 and 0.82 respectively). This protective effect may result from misclassification bias, since individuals with severe sepsis may be less likely to have hypertension entered as a discharge diagnosis (because blood pressures were low during the acute illness, or because hypertension may have seemed less relevant to report). Over-adjustment in our multivariate models may also contribute to the apparent protective effect of hypertension, since hypertension and chronic renal failure have a very strong epidemiologic link; hypertension is a major cause of chronic renal disease, and chronic renal failure very frequently causes hypertension: the percentage of individuals with CRF (GFR < 50 ml min⁻¹) who are hypertensive is reported to be over 85%. The inclusion of chronic renal failure in our multivariate model could have obscured the risk associations between hypertension, ARF and renal replacement therapy. For these reasons, the apparent protective effect of hypertension must be interpreted cautiously, in view of many previous studies of ARF which have identified chronic hypertension as a risk factor.

5.33 Confounding.

Confounding is another major issue in epidemiologic research. It occurs when the association between exposure and outcome is influenced by another variable, associated with both. Confounding can lead to an overestimation or an underestimation of the association between exposure and outcome variables.

Confounding of the risk related to drug exposure.

Confounding by indication, or by contraindication, is a major issue in pharmacoepidemiology. *Confounding by indication* occurs when a risk association between drug exposure and the outcome is not directly related to the drug, but rather by the association of drug treatment with a disease state which is the true causal risk factor. If confounding by the disease is corrected appropriately, drug exposure will not be found to influence outcome. *Confounding* *by contraindication* is the reverse situation: a disease associated with the outcome is considered a contraindication to use of a certain drug. If this is the case, individuals with the disease are less likely to be exposed to the drug, which will result in an association that falsely appears protective. If confounding is appropriately corrected, drug exposure will not be found to be protective.

In this study two strategies were used in order to correct for confounding: multivariate logistic regression and stratification.

Multivariate logistic regression.

Using multivariate logistic regression, we modeled the acute renal failure risk according to baseline characteristics, selected comorbidities and drug exposure. The risk associations for ARF and renal replacement therapy were maintained in the multivariate models for thiazide diuretics, ACEIs and ARBs, and exposure to antihypertensive polytherapy. We believe these risk associations are real. For beta-blockers and calcium channel blockers the apparent increase in risk in univariate analysis was no longer detectable in multivariate analysis, suggesting confounding by indication. The interpretation of the results for loop diuretics is more difficult: as noted previously the discrepancy between an increased risk of renal replacement therapy and a neutral risk of ARF cannot be explained satisfactorily by the study data, and could be due to unidentified bias, or residual confounding.

Stratification.

We applied the multivariate logistic models to subgroups of the cohort defined according to the present or absence of chronic heart failure and chronic renal failure, the two comorbidities with the greatest risk of ARF and renal replacement therapy in this study.

Drug exposure: the results of our stratified analysis argue strongly against confounding by indication. When our multivariate models are applied to individuals *without* predisposing comorbidities, the risks associated with drug exposure are still detectable for thiazide diuretics, ACEIs, ARBs and for drug polytherapy, which reinforces the validity of the unstratified logistic regression analyses.

The results of logistic regressions restricted to the subgroups with predisposing comorbidities are different, particularly in the subgroup with chronic renal failure, in which the risk associations for ARF are no longer detectable, and the risk associations for renal replacement therapy are reversed. This suggests important residual confounding within the subgroup with chronic renal failure. Residual confounding could be due to the fact that this study's database does not allow precise classification of severity of either chronic heart failure or chronic renal failure. In CHF and CRF, the severity of the disease has an important impact on drug prescription. Differences in drug treatment within the subgroups with CHF or CRF could obscure the risks associated with exposure to the drugs under study.

Confounding by contraindication may have occurred in the subgroup with chronic renal failure: individuals with more severe CRF are less likely to receive prescriptions for thiazide diuretics (believed to be inefficacious), or for ACEIs and ARBs (because they provoke hyperkalemia or deterioration of renal function more frequently). For ACEIs and ARBs, several reports^{116,117} have confirmed that individuals with more advanced CRF (who, theoretically, should benefit the most from these agents) are less likely to be treated with these agents - possibly because of physicians' reluctance to continue treatment when a decrease in renal function is noted during initiation of therapy with these drugs. *Confounding by* indication could explain the increased risk of renal replacement therapy associated with exposure to calcium channel blockers: individuals with advanced chronic renal failure are more likely to have resistant hypertension, necessitating polytherapy¹¹⁸. Since many of the other drug categories are felt to be contraindicated in the presence of advanced CRF, physicians may resort more frequently to calcium channel blockers to treat hypertension in these high risk individuals, which could confound the observed risk.

Given the retrospective nature of this study, and the lack of precision in the assessment of comorbidity severity, we cannot provide a reliable estimate of the

risk of sepsis-associated ARF resulting from antihypertensive drug exposure when chronic renal failure is present. This question warrants further research. To provide a better estimate of sepsis-associated ARF risk in chronic renal failure patients, a cohort study would need to have data on baseline (preadmission) renal function, provided by either baseline serum creatinine levels or estimated glomerular filtration rates (eGFR) using prediction equations. It should also have data on in-hospital creatinine levels. This would allow better stratification of cohort members according to the severity of both chronic renal failure and acute renal failure (expressed as proportional decrease in baseline renal function). Running the logistic regression models amongst subgroups stratified in this manner should remove most of the confounding by indication/contraindication that seems to be obscuring the relationship between drug exposure and outcome in the chronic renal failure subgroup.

Conclusions.

The following conclusions can be drawn from this study.

- 1. There has been a major increase in the incidence of sepsis in elderly Québec residents during the 1997-2004 period.
- 2. Exposure to antihypertensive drugs and antihypertensive polytherapy has increased significantly during the same time period.
- 3. There has been a parallel increase in the proportion of septic individuals developing acute renal failure during the same period.
- 4. Chronic renal failure and chronic heart failure are the two baseline comorbidities associated with the highest risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure.
- 5. Exposure to thiazide diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and angiotensin-receptor blockers is independently associated with an increased risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy, except in the subgroup of patients with chronic renal failure for whom an increased risk was not demonstrated.
- 6. Exposure to loop diuretics is independently associated with an increased risk of renal replacement therapy, but an increased risk of acute renal failure cannot be demonstrated.
- Exposure to beta blockers and calcium channel blockers does not appear to increase risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure or renal replacement therapy.
- Simultaneous exposure to a greater number of antihypertensive drugs is independently associated with a progressively greater risk of sepsis-associated acute renal failure and renal replacement therapy.

To our knowledge, this is the first study of outpatient exposure to antihypertensive agents as a risk factor for acute renal failure during sepsis. The subject has considerable clinical relevance, considering the increasing size of the elderly population, the increase in antihypertensive agents use, and the increasing incidence of sepsis in this age subgroup. Clinicians taking care of elderly patients during an acute infectious episode should be aware of the risk of renal function deterioration associated with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, thiazide diuretics and antihypertensive polytherapy.

The former drug categories figure in current hypertension treatment guidelines as first-line pharmacologic agents. This is justified by an important number of clinical studies which have consistently demonstrated a significant decrease in cardiovascular and overall mortality resulting from pharmacotherapy with these agents.

Considering this, the demonstration of an increased risk of acute renal failure during sepsis does not not justify modification of current hypertension therapy guidelines. However, during the acute phase of a severe infectious episode, it is probably preferable to interrupt administration of the aforesaid drugs, and to resume treatment only when recovery from sepsis has clearly occurred.

Our study has important limitations, related to its retrospective nature, and to the lack of precision of the diagnostic database. These limitations probably account for two major discrepancies are in our results: the negative results obtained in the chronic renal failure subgroup, and the demonstration of an increased risk of acute dialysis with loop diuretics exposure, without an associated risk of acute renal failure.

Further pharmacoepidemiologic studies of the topic are necessary. The reliability of such studies would be increased by the following aspects of study design. A prospective design, and the use of a database containing prior primary care diagnoses would allow better adjustment for confounding by comorbidities. Laboratory data providing information on baseline and in-hospital renal function would allow better adjustment for confounding by indication and/or contraindication, and better diagnostic sensitivity for the occurrence of acute renal failure, increasing the precision and reliability of risk estimates.

Reference list.

1. Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. Chest 1992;101:1644-55.

2. Levy M, Fink M, Marshall J, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit Care Med 2003;31:1250-6.

3. Martin GS, Mannino DM, Eaton S, Moss M. The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. N Engl J Med 2003;348:1546-54.

4. Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G, Carcillo J, Pinsky MR. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 2001;29:1303-10.

5. Baine WB, Yu W, Summe JP. The epidemiology of hospitalization of elderly Americans for septicemia or bacteremia in 1991-1998. Application of Medicare claims data. Ann Epidemiol 2001;11:118-26.

6. Dombrovskiy VY, Martin AA, Sunderram J, Paz HL. Rapid increase in hospitalization and mortality rates for severe sepsis in the United States: a trend analysis from 1993 to 2003. Crit Care Med 2007;35:1244-50.

7. Breen D, Bihari D. Acute renal failure as a part of multiple organ failure: the slippery slope of critical illness. Kidney Int Suppl 1998;66:S25-33.

8. Van Biesen W, Lameire N, Vanholder R, Mehta R. Relation between acute kidney injury and multiple-organ failure: the chicken and the egg question. Crit Care Med 2007;35:316-7.

9. Marshall JC, Cook DJ, Christou NV, Bernard GR, Sprung CL, Sibbald WJ. Multiple organ dysfunction score: a reliable descriptor of a complex clinical outcome. Crit Care Med 1995;23:1638-52.

10. Le Gall JR, Klar J, Lemeshow S, et al. The Logistic Organ Dysfunction system. A new way to assess organ dysfunction in the intensive care unit. ICU Scoring Group. JAMA 1996;276:802-10.

11. Guidet B, Aegerter P, Gauzit R, Meshaka P, Dreyfuss D, CUB-Rea Study Group. Incidence and impact of organ dysfunctions associated with sepsis. Chest 2005;127:942-51.

12. Rangel-Frausto MS, Pittet D, Costigan M, Hwang T, Davis CS, Wenzel RP. The natural history of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). A prospective study. JAMA 1995;273:117-23.

13. Yegenaga I, Hoste E, Van Biesen W, et al. Clinical characteristics of patients developing ARF due to sepsis/systemic inflammatory response syndrome: results of a prospective study. Am J Kidney Dis 2004;43:817-24.

14. Uchino S, Kellum J A, Bellomo R, et al. Acute renal failure in critically ill patients: a multinational, multicenter study. JAMA 2005;294:813-8.

15. Bagshaw SM, Uchino S, Bellomo R, et al. Septic acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: clinical characteristics and outcomes. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2007;2:431-9.

16. Mehta RL, Pascual MT, Soroko S, et al. Spectrum of acute renal failure in the intensive care unit: the PICARD experience. Kidney Int 2004;66:1613-21.

17. Liano F, Pascual J. Epidemiology of acute renal failure: a prospective, multicenter, community-based study. Madrid Acute Renal Failure Study Group. Kidney Int 1996;50:811-8.

18. Liano F, Junco E, Pascual J, Madero R, Verde E. The spectrum of acute renal failure in the intensive care unit compared with that seen in other settings. The Madrid Acute Renal Failure Study Group. Kidney Int Suppl 1998;66:S16-24.

19. Oppert M, Engel C, Brunkhorst FM, et al. Acute renal failure in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock--a significant independent risk factor for mortality: results from the German Prevalence Study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2008;23:904-9.

20. Schor N. Acute renal failure and the sepsis syndrome. Kidney Int 2002;61:764-76.

21. Schrier RW, Wang W. Acute renal failure and sepsis. N Engl J Med 2004;351:159-69.

22. Abuelo JG. Normotensive ischemic acute renal failure. N Engl J Med 2007;357:797-805.

23. Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Bagshaw SM. Normotensive ischemic acute renal failure. N Engl J Med 2007;357:2205-6.

24. Bellomo R, Bagshaw S, Langenberg C, Ronco C. Pre-renal azotemia: a flawed paradigm in critically ill septic patients? Contrib Nephrol 2007;156:1-9.

25. Wan L, Bagshaw SM, Langenberg C, Saotome T, May C, Bellomo R. Pathophysiology of septic acute kidney injury: what do we really know? Crit Care Med 2008;36:S198-203.

26. Liu YL, Prowle J, Licari E, Uchino S, Bellomo R. Changes in blood pressure before the development of nosocomial acute kidney injury. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2009;24:504-11.

27. Liangos O, Wald R, O'Bell JW, Price L, Pereira BJ, Jaber BL. Epidemiology and outcomes of acute renal failure in hospitalized patients: a national survey. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;1:43-51.

28. Waikar SS, Curhan GC, Wald R, McCarthy EP, Chertow GM. Declining mortality in patients with acute renal failure, 1988 to 2002. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17:1143-50.

29. Xue JL, Daniels F, Star RA, et al. Incidence and mortality of acute renal failure in Medicare beneficiaries, 1992 to 2001. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17:1135-42.

30. Hsu CY, McCulloch CE, Fan D, Ordonez JD, Chertow GM, Go AS. Communitybased incidence of acute renal failure. Kidney Int 2007;72:208-12.

31. Mehta RL, Pascual MT, Gruta CG, Zhuang S, Chertow GM. Refining predictive models in critically ill patients with acute renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002;13:1350-7.

32. Khosla N. Soroko SB. Chertow GM. Himmelfarb J. Ikizler TA. Paganini E. Mehta RL. Program to Improve Care in Acute Renal Disease (PICARD). Preexisting chronic kidney disease: a potential for improved outcomes from acute kidney injury. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;4:1914-9.

33. Lameire N, Van Biesen W, Vanholder R. The changing epidemiology of acute renal failure. Nat clin pract nephrol 2006;2:364-77.

34. Lameire N, Van Biesen W, Vanholder R. Acute kidney injury. Lancet 2008;372:1863-5. 35. Waikar SS, Liu KD, Chertow GM. Diagnosis, epidemiology and outcomes of acute kidney injury. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;3:844-61.

36. Murray PT, Devarajan P, Levey AS, et al. A framework and key research questions in AKI diagnosis and staging in different environments. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;3:864-8.

37. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative w. Acute renal failure - definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. Crit Care 2004;8:R204-12.

38. Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. Crit Care 2007;11:R31.

39. Bagshaw SM, George C, Dinu I, Bellomo R. A multi-centre evaluation of the RIFLE criteria for early acute kidney injury in critically ill patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2008;23:1203-10.

40. Palmer BF. Renal dysfunction complicating the treatment of hypertension. N Engl J Med 2002;347:1256-61.

41. Annane D, Trabold F, Sharshar T, et al. Inappropriate sympathetic activation at onset of septic shock: a spectral analysis approach. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999;160:458-65.

42. Doerschug KC, Delsing AS, Schmidt GA, Ashare A. Renin-angiotensin system activation correlates with microvascular dysfunction in a prospective cohort study of clinical sepsis. Crit Care 2010;14:R24.

43. Brater DC. Diuretic therapy. N Engl J Med 1998;339:387-95.

44. Ernst ME, Moser M. Use of diuretics in patients with hypertension. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2153-64.

45. Jackevicius CA, Tu K, Filate WA, Brien SE, Tu JV. Trends in cardiovascular drug utilization and drug expenditures in Canada between 1996 and 2001. Can J Cardiol 2003;19:1359-66.

46. Campbell NR, Tu K, Brant R, Duong-Hua M, McAlister FA, Canadian Hypertension Education Program Outcomes Research Task,Force. The impact of the Canadian Hypertension Education Program on antihypertensive prescribing trends. Hypertension 2006;47:22-8.

47. Neutel CI, Campbell NR. Antihypertensive medication use by recently diagnosed hypertensive Canadians. Can J Cardiol 2007;23:561-5.

48. Campbell NR, McAlister FA, Duong-Hua M, Tu K. Polytherapy with two or more antihypertensive drugs to lower blood pressure in elderly Ontarians. Room for improvement. Can J Cardiol 2007;23:783-7.

49. Hemmelgarn BR, Chen G, Walker R, et al. Trends in antihypertensive drug prescriptions and physician visits in Canada between 1996 and 2006. Can J Cardiol 2008;24:507-12.

50. Mehta RL, Pascual MT, Soroko S, Chertow GM, PICARD Study G. Diuretics, mortality, and nonrecovery of renal function in acute renal failure. JAMA 2002;288:2547-53.

51. Mittalhenkle A, Stehman-Breen CO, Shlipak MG, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and incident acute renal failure in older adults: the cardiovascular health study. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;3:450-6.

52. Mehran R, Nikolsky E. Contrast-induced nephropathy: definition, epidemiology, and patients at risk. Kidney Int Suppl 2006;:S11-5.

53. Aronson S, Fontes ML, Miao Y, Mangano DT. Risk index for perioperative renal dysfunction/failure: critical dependence on pulse pressure hypertension. Circulation 2007;115:733-42.

54. Schneider V, Levesque LE, Zhang B, Hutchinson T, Brophy JM. Association of selective and conventional nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs with acute renal failure: A population-based, nested case-control analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2006;164:881-9.

55. Nash K, Hafeez A, Hou S. Hospital-acquired renal insufficiency. Am J Kidney Dis 2002;39:930-6.

56. Hou SH, Bushinsky DA, Wish JB, Cohen JJ, Harrington JT. Hospital-acquired renal insufficiency: a prospective study. Am J Med 1983;74:243-8.

57. Shusterman N, Strom BL, Murray TG, Morrison G, West SL, Maislin G. Risk factors and outcome of hospital-acquired acute renal failure. Clinical epidemiologic study. Am J Med 1987;83:65-71.

58. Mehran R, Aymong ED, Nikolsky E, et al. A simple risk score for prediction of contrast-induced nephropathy after percutaneous coronary intervention: development and initial validation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;44:1393-9.

59. Hsu CY, Ordonez JD, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Go AS. The risk of acute renal failure in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 2008;74:101-7.

60. Drawz PE, Miller RT, Sehgal AR. Predicting hospital-acquired acute kidney injury--a case-controlled study. Ren Fail 2008;30:848-55.

61. Mueller C, Buerkle G, Perruchoud AP, Buettner HJ. Female sex and risk of contrast nephropathy after percutaneous coronary intervention. Can J Cardiol 2004;20:505-9.

62. Thakar CV, Arrigain S, Worley S, Yared JP, Paganini EP. A clinical score to predict acute renal failure after cardiac surgery. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16:162-8.

63. Knight EL, Glynn RJ, McIntyre KM, Mogun H, Avorn J. Predictors of decreased renal function in patients with heart failure during angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor therapy: results from the studies of left ventricular dysfunction (SOLVD). Am Heart J 1999;138:849-55.

64. Krumholz HM, Chen YT, Vaccarino V, et al. Correlates and impact on outcomes of worsening renal function in patients > or =65 years of age with heart failure. Am J Cardiol 2000;85:1110-3.

65. Forman DE, Butler J, Wang Y, et al. Incidence, predictors at admission, and impact of worsening renal function among patients hospitalized with heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:61-7.

66. Fonarow GC, Heywood JT. The confounding issue of comorbid renal insufficiency. Am J Med 2006;119:S17-25.

67. Liang KV, Williams AW, Greene EL, Redfield MM. Acute decompensated heart failure and the cardiorenal syndrome. Crit Care Med 2008;36:S75-88.

68. Ronco C, Haapio M, House AA, Anavekar N, Bellomo R. Cardiorenal syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:1527-39.

69. Cholongitas E, Senzolo M, Patch D, Shaw S, O'Beirne J, Burroughs AK. Cirrhotics admitted to intensive care unit: the impact of acute renal failure on mortality. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;21:744-50.

70. Cardenas A, Gines P, Uriz J, et al. Renal failure after upper gastrointestinal bleeding in cirrhosis: incidence, clinical course, predictive factors, and short-term prognosis. Hepatology 2001;34:671-6.

71. Hampel H, Bynum GD, Zamora E, El-Serag HB. Risk factors for the development of renal dysfunction in hospitalized patients with cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001;96:2206-10.

72. Moreau R, Lebrec D. Acute renal failure in patients with cirrhosis: perspectives in the age of MELD. Hepatology 2003;37:233-43.

73. Terra C, Guevara M, Torre A, et al. Renal failure in patients with cirrhosis and sepsis unrelated to spontaneous bacterial peritonitis: value of MELD score. Gastroenterology 2005;129:1944-53.

74. Wu CC, Yeung LK, Tsai WS, et al. Incidence and factors predictive of acute renal failure in patients with advanced liver cirrhosis. Clin Nephrol 2006;65:28-33.

75. Chittineni H, Miyawaki N, Gulipelli S, Fishbane S. Risk for acute renal failure in patients hospitalized for decompensated congestive heart failure. Am J Nephrol 2007;27:55-62.

76. Johnson RJ, Herrera-Acosta J, Schreiner GF, Rodriguez-Iturbe B. Subtle acquired renal injury as a mechanism of salt-sensitive hypertension. N Engl J Med 2002;346:913-23.

77. Khavandi K, Greenstein AS, Sonoyama K, et al. Myogenic tone and small artery remodelling: insight into diabetic nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2009;24:361-9.

78. Hansen HP, Rossing P, Tarnow L, Nielsen FS, Jensen BR, Parving HH. Increased glomerular filtration rate after withdrawal of long-term antihypertensive treatment in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int 1995;47:1726-31.

79. Levey AS, Adler S, Caggiula AW, et al. Effects of dietary protein restriction on the progression of advanced renal disease in the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study. Am J Kidney Dis 1996;27:652-63.

80. Klahr S, Levey AS, Beck GJ, et al. The effects of dietary protein restriction and blood-pressure control on the progression of chronic renal disease. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group. N Engl J Med 1994;330:877-84.

81. Choudhury D, Ahmed Z. Drug-associated renal dysfunction and injury. Nat Clin Pract Nephrol 2006;2:80-91.

82. Pannu N, Nadim MK. An overview of drug-induced acute kidney injury. Crit Care Med 2008;36:S216-23.

83. Yusuf S, Teo KK, Pogue J, et al. Telmisartan, ramipril, or both in patients at high risk for vascular events. N Engl J Med 2008;358:1547-59.

84. Mann JF, Schmieder RE, McQueen M, et al. Renal outcomes with telmisartan, ramipril, or both, in people at high vascular risk (the ONTARGET study): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Lancet 2008;372:547-53.

85. The EUROPA Investigators. Efficacy of perindopril in reduction of cardiovascular events among patients with stable coronary artery disease: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial (the EUROPA study). Lancet 2003;362:782-8.

86. Julius S, Kjeldsen SE, Weber M, et al. Outcomes in hypertensive patients at high cardiovascular risk treated with regimens based on valsartan or amlodipine: the VALUE randomised trial. Lancet 2004;363:2022-31.

87. Bridoux F, Hazzan M, Pallot JL, et al. Acute renal failure after the use of angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitors in patients without renal artery stenosis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1992;7:100-4.

88. Bakris GL, Weir MR. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor-associated elevations in serum creatinine: is this a cause for concern? Arch Intern Med 2000;160:685-93.

89. Ljungman S, Kjekshus J, Swedberg K. Renal function in severe congestive heart failure during treatment with enalapril (the CONSENSUS Trial). Am J Cardiol 1992;70:479-87.

90. Packer M, Lee WH, Medina N, Yushak M, Kessler PD. Functional renal insufficiency during long-term therapy with captopril and enalapril in severe chronic heart failure. Ann Intern Med 1987;106:346-54.

91. Cruz CS, Cruz LS, Silva GR, Marcilio de Souza CA. Incidence and predictors of development of acute renal failure related to treatment of congestive heart failure with ACE inhibitors. Nephron Clin Pract 2007;105:c77-83.

92. Gupta S, Neyses L. Diuretic usage in heart failure: a continuing conundrum in 2005. Eur Heart J 2005;26:644-9.

93. Felker GM, O'Connor CM, Braunwald E. Loop diuretics in acute decompensated heart failure: necessary? Evil? A necessary evil? Circ Heart fail 2009;2:56-62.

94. ALLHAT Officers and Coordinators for the ALLHAT Collaborative Research Group. Major outcomes in high-risk hypertensive patients randomized to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or calcium channel blocker vs diuretic: The Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial.[Erratum appears in JAMA. 2004 May 12;291(18):2196]. JAMA 2002;288:2981-97.

95. Rahman M, Pressel S, Davis BR, et al. Renal outcomes in high-risk hypertensive patients treated with an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or a calcium channel blocker vs a diuretic: a report from the Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). Arch Intern Med 2005;165:936-46.

96. Butler J, Forman DE, Abraham WT, et al. Relationship between heart failure treatment and development of worsening renal function among hospitalized patients. Am Heart J 2004;147:331-8.

97. Sun WY, Reiser IW, Chou SY. Risk factors for acute renal insufficiency induced by diuretics in patients with congestive heart failure. Am J Kidney Dis 2006;47:798-808.

98. Phillips CO, Kashani A, Ko DK, Francis G, Krumholz HM. Adverse effects of combination angiotensin II receptor blockers plus angiotensin-converting enzyme

inhibitors for left ventricular dysfunction: a quantitative review of data from randomized clinical trials. Arch Intern Med 2007;167:1930-6.

99. Butler J, Forman DE, Abraham WT, et al. Relationship between heart failure treatment and development of worsening renal function among hospitalized patients. Am Heart J 2004;147:331-8.

100. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. JAMA 2003;289:2560-72.

101. Khan NA, Hemmelgarn B, Herman RJ, et al. The 2009 Canadian Hypertension Education Program recommendations for the management of hypertension: Part,2-therapy. Can J Cardiol 2009;25:287-98.

102. Tu K, Campbell NR, Duong-Hua M, McAlister FA. Hypertension management in the elderly has improved: Ontario prescribing trends, 1994 to 2002. Hypertension 2005;45:1113-8.

103. Waikar SS, Wald R, Chertow GM, et al. Validity of International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification Codes for Acute Renal Failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17:1688-94.

104. Dosemeci M, Wacholder S, Lubin JH. Does nondifferential misclassification of exposure always bias a true effect toward the null value?. Am J Epidemiol 1990;132:746-8.

105. Lameire N, Van Biesen W, Vanholder R. The rise of prevalence and the fall of mortality of patients with acute renal failure: what the analysis of two databases does and does not tell us. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17:923-5.

106. Jencks SF, Williams DK, Kay TL. Assessing hospital-associated deaths from discharge data. The role of length of stay and comorbidities. JAMA 1988;260:2240-6.

107. lezzoni LI, Foley SM, Daley J, Hughes J, Fisher ES, Heeren T. Comorbidities, complications, and coding bias. Does the number of diagnosis codes matter in predicting in-hospital mortality?. JAMA 1992;267:2197-203.

108. Humphries KH, Rankin JM, Carere RG, Buller CE, Kiely FM, Spinelli JJ. Comorbidity data in outcomes research: are clinical data derived from administrative databases a reliable alternative to chart review?. J Clin Epidemiol 2000;53:343-9.

109. Birman-Deych E, Waterman AD, Yan Y, Nilasena DS, Radford MJ, Gage BF. Accuracy of ICD-9-CM codes for identifying cardiovascular and stroke risk factors. Med Care 2005;43:480-5.

110. Romano PS, Mark DH. Bias in the coding of hospital discharge data and its implications for quality assessment. Med Care 1994;32:81-90.

111. Quan H, Parsons GA, Ghali WA. Validity of information on comorbidity derived from ICD-9-CCM administrative data. Med Care 2002;40:675-85.

112. Lee DS, Donovan L, Austin PC, et al. Comparison of coding of heart failure and comorbidities in administrative and clinical data for use in outcomes research. Med Care 2005;43:182-8.

113. Winkelmayer WC, Schneeweiss S, Mogun H, Patrick AR, Avorn J, Solomon DH. Identification of individuals with CKD from Medicare claims data: a validation study. Am J Kidney Dis 2005;46:225-32.

114. Schneeweiss S, Avorn J. A review of uses of health care utilization databases for epidemiologic research on therapeutics. J Clin Epidemiol 2005;58:323-37.

115. Bullano MF, Kamat S, Willey VJ, Barlas S, Watson DJ, Brenneman SK. Agreement between administrative claims and the medical record in identifying patients with a diagnosis of hypertension. Med Care 2006;44:486-90.

116. Tonelli M, Gill J, Pandeya S, Bohm C, Levin A, Kiberd BA. Barriers to blood pressure control and angiotensin enzyme inhibitor use in Canadian patients with chronic renal insufficiency. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2002;17:1426-33.

117. Hsu CY, Bates DW, Kuperman GJ, Curhan GC. Blood pressure and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor use in hypertensive patients with chronic renal insufficiency. Am J Hypertens 2001;14:1219-25.

118. Muntner P, Anderson A, Charleston J, et al. Hypertension awareness, treatment, and control in adults with CKD: results from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) Study. Am J Kidney Dis 2010;55:441-51.

Appendix 1. Recommended clinical criteria for the diagnosis of sepsis.

| Infection ^{, a} documented or suspected, and <i>some</i> of the following: |
|---|
| General variables. |
| Fever (core temperature > 38.3°C). |
| Hypothermia (core temperature < 36°C). |
| - Heart rate > 90 min ⁻¹ or > 2 SD above the normal value for age. |
| – Tachypnea. |
| Altered mental status. |
| Significant edema or positive fluid balance (> 20 ml/kg over 24 |
| hrs). |
| Hyperglycemia (plasma glucose > 7.7 mmol/l) in the absence of |
| diabetes. |
| Inflammatory variables. |
| - Leukocytosis (WBC count > $12,000 I^{-1}$). |
| – Leukopenia (WBC count < 4000 I^{-1}). |
| Normal WBC count with > 10% immature forms. |
| Plasma C-reactive protein > 2 SD above the normal value. |
| Plasma procalcitonin > 2 SD above the normal value. |
| Hemodynamic variables. |
| Arterial hypotension (SBP < 90 mm Hg, MAP < 70 mm Hg, . |
| or a SBP decrease > 40 mm Hg) |
| – SvO2 > 70%. |
| - Cardiac index > $3.5 \text{ l*min}^{-1}\text{*m}^{-2}$. |
| Organ dysfunction variables. |
| Arterial hypoxemia (PaO2/FIO2 < 300 mm Hg). |
| - Acute oliguria (urine output < 0.5 ml*kg ⁻¹ *hr ⁻¹ for at least 2 hrs). |
| Creatinine increase > 45 mmol/l . |
| Coagulation abnormalities (INR > 1.5 or aPTT > 60 s). |
| Ileus (absent bowel sounds). |
| Thrombocytopenia (platelet count < 100,000 l⁻¹). |
| Hyperbilirubinemia (plasma total bilirubin > 70 mmol/l). |
| Tissue perfusion variables. |
| Hyperlactatemia (> 1 mmol/l). |
| Decreased capillary refill or mottling. |
| ^a Infection defined as a pathologic process induced by a microorganism; WBC, white |
| blood cell; SBP, systolic blood pressure; MAP, mean arterial blood pressure; SvO2, |

mixed venous oxygen saturation; INR, international normalized ratio; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time. (adapted from Levy et al, 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit Care Med 2003; 31:1250-1256)

Appendix 2. ICD-9-CM codes used for diagnoses.

Acute renal failure¹.

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|----------------------|
| 584. | Acute kidney failure |
| 572.4 | Hepatorenal syndrome |
| 788.5 | Oliguria or anuria |

Chronic heart failure

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|---|
| 398.91 | Congestive rheumatic heart failure |
| 402.01 | Malignant hypertensive heart disease with heart failure |
| 402.11 | Benign hypertensive heart disease with heart failure |
| 402.91 | Unspecified hypertensive heart disease with heart failure |
| 416. | Pulmonary heart disease |
| 425. | Cardiomyopathy |
| 428. | Heart failure |
| 429.0 | Myocarditis, unspecified |
| 429.1 | Myocardial degeneration |
| 429.3 | Cardiomegaly |

Chronic hypertension

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|--------------------------------------|
| 401. | Essential hypertension |
| 402. | Hypertensive heart disease |
| 403. | Hypertensive renal disease |
| 404. | Hypertensive heart and renal disease |
| 405. | Secondary hypertension |

¹ Acute renal failure was also diagnosed if renal replacement therapy was initiated during the index hospitalisation, as recorded inthe RAMQ physician fee claims database (see Appendix 2).

Chronic renal failure

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|--|
| 250.4 | Diabetes with renal manifestations |
| 403. | Hypertensive renal disease |
| 404. | Hypertensive heart and renal disease |
| 582. | Chronic glomerulonephritis |
| 585. | Chronic renal failure |
| 587. | Renal sclerosis, unspecified |
| 588. | Disorders resulting from impaired renal function |
| 753.0 | Renal agenesis and dysgenesis |

Chronic liver disease

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|---|
| 571. | Chronic liver disease and cirrhosis. |
| 572.2 | Hepatic encephalopathy |
| 572.3 | Portal hypertension |
| 572.4 | Hepatorenal syndrome |
| 572.8 | Other sequelae of chronic liver disease |
| 573. | Other disorders of liver |

Coronary disease

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|---|
| 410. | Acute myocardial infarction |
| 411. | Other ischemic heart disease |
| 412. | Old myocardial infarction |
| 413. | Angina pectoris |
| 414. | Other forms of chronic ischemic heart disease |
| 429.7 | Certain sequelae of myocardial infarction |

Diabetes¹

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|-------------------|
| 250. | Diabetes mellitus |

Peripheral arterial disease

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|---|
| 433. | Occlusion and stenosis of precerebral arteries |
| 434. | Occlusion and stenosis of cerebral arteries |
| 435. | Transient cerebral ischemia |
| 436. | Acute, but ill-defined, cerebrovascular disease |
| 437. | Other and ill-defined cerebrovascular disease |
| 438. | Late effects of cerebrovascular disease |
| 440. | Atherosclerosis |
| 441. | Aortic aneurysm and dissection |
| 442. | Other aneurysm |
| 443. | Other peripheral vascular disease |
| 444. | Arterial embolism and thrombosis |
| 445. | Atheroembolism |

Sepsis²

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description |
|---------------|-------------|
| 038. | Septicemia |
| 790.7 | Bacteremia |

¹ Diabetes was also diagnosed if a prescription for an oral antidiabetic agent or for insulin was delivered in the sixty days prior to the index hospitalisation (for detailed drug inventory see Appendix 4). ² * A specific ICD9-CM code for sepsis (995.9), introduced after 2004, was not in use during

the study period.

Shock¹

| ICD-9 CM CODE | Description | |
|---------------|--|--|
| 458.9 | Hypotension unspecified | |
| 785.5 | Shock without mention of trauma* | |
| 796.3 | Nonspecific low blood pressure reading | |
| 796.3 | Postoperative shock not elsewhere classified | |

¹ * A specific ICD9-CM code for septic shock (785.52), introduced after 2004, was not in use during the study period.Shock, was not a criteria for inclusion in the cohort, but was recorded as a marker for the severity of sepsis.

Appendix 3. *Régie de l'assurance-maladie du Québec* physician billing codes for renal-replacement therapy

| Description. | Billing codes. |
|--|--|
| Hemodialysis, first treatment. | 09261 (until May 31, 2002) 15040 (after May 31, 2002) |
| Hemodialysis, subsequent treatments, between 07h00 and 17h00, weekdays. | 09274 (until May 31, 2002) 15041 (after May 31, 2002) |
| Hemodialysis, subsequent treatments, between 17h00 and 24h00, during weekdays. | 09216 (until May 31, 2002) 15043 (after May 31, 2002) |
| Hemodialysis, subsequent treatments, between 24h00 and 07h00, during weekdays. | 09218 (until May 31, 2002) 15045 (after May 31, 2002) |
| Hemodialysis, subsequent treatments, during weekends. | 09262 (until May 31, 2002) 15047 (after May 31, 2002) |
| Continuous hemofiltration, for the first three days of treatment. | 09382 |
| Continuous hemofiltration, after the first three days of treatment. | 09383 |
| Calcium channel blockers | Beta blockers | Thiazide diuretics |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------|
| amlodipine | acebutolol bendrofluméthiazi | |
| amlodipine | atenolol benzthiazide | |
| diltiazem | carvedilol | chlorothiazide |
| felodipine | esmolol | chlorthalidone |
| nicardipine | labetalol | hydrochlorothiazide |
| nifedipine | metoprolol | indapamide |
| nimodipine | nadolol | metolazone |
| verapamil | oxprenolol | polythiazide |
| | pindolol | |
| | propranolol | |
| | sotalol | |

Appendix 4. Antihypertensive drugs grouped by categories.

| ACE inhibitors | Angiotensin receptor blockers | Loop diuretics |
|----------------|----------------------------------|-----------------|
| benazepril | candesartan | bumetanide |
| captopril | eprosartan | ethacrynic acid |
| cilazapril | irbesartan | furosemide |
| enalapril | losartan | torsemide |
| fosinopril | telmisartan | |
| lisinopril | valsartan | |
| perindopril | | |
| quinapril | | |
| ramipril | | |
| trandolapril | | |

| Potassium sparing diuretics | Thiazides - potassium sparing diuretics in combination ¹ |
|-----------------------------|---|
| amiloride | amiloride with hydrochlorothiazide |
| spironolactone | spironolactone with hydrochlorothiazide |
| triamterene | triamterene with hydrochlorothiazide |

| ACE inhibitors – thiazide in combination ¹ | Angiotensin receptor blockers – thiazide in combination ¹ | ACE inhibitor- calcium channel blocker in combination ¹ |
|---|--|--|
| perindopril with indapamide | irbesartan with hydrochlorothiazide | Trandolapril with verapamil |
| quinapril with hydrochlorothiazide | candesartan with hydrochlorothiazide | |
| cilazapril with hydrochlorothiazide | eprosartan with hydrochlorothiazide | |
| enalapril with hydrochlorothiazide | losartan with hydrochlorothiazide | |
| lisinopril with hydrochlorothiazide | telmisartan with hydrochlorothiazide | |
| | valsartan with hydrochlorothiazide | |

| Alpha-blockers | CNS agents and ganglioplegics | Arterial vasodilators | Nitrates ² |
|----------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|
| doxazosin | clonidine | diazoxide | isosorbide dinitrate |
| phentolamine | guanethidine | hydralazine | isosorbide mononitrate |
| prazosin | methyldopa | minoxidil | glyceryl trinitrate |
| terazosin | reserpine | | |
| | trimetaphan | | |

¹ When a drug combination was dispensed, individuals were recorded as being simultaneously exposed to both drug categories. ² Only long-acting, percutaneous or oral forms of nitrate drugs were considered. Short acting sublingual forms were not considered to have chronic antihypertensive efficacy in the.

Appendix 5. Antidiabetic drugs.

| Oral hypoglycemic drugs | Insulins |
|-------------------------------------|---------------------|
| acarbose | insulin aspart |
| acetohexamide | insulin detemir |
| chlorpropamide | insulin glargine |
| gliclazide | insulin lispro |
| glimepiride | insulin (all forms) |
| glyburide | |
| metformin | |
| metformin-rosiglitazone combination | |
| nateglinide | |
| pioglitazone | |
| repaglinide | |
| rosiglitazone | |

Individuals were considered to be diabetic if outpatient delivery of the following drugs occurred in the 60 days prior to index hospitalization.